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SIRIUS SATELLITE RADIO INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenue

Subscriber revenue, including effects of 1-in rebates

Advertising revenue, net of agency ft
Equipment revenu
Other revenu

Total revenu
Operating expense

Cost of services (excludes depreciation shown séglgr

below):
Satellite and transmissic
Programming and conte
Customer service and billir
Cost of equipmer
Sales and marketir
Subscriber acquisition cos
General and administrati\
Engineering, design and developm
Depreciatior
Equity granted to third parties and employ®

Total operating expens
Loss from operation
Other income (expense
Interest and investment incor
Interest expens
Other income
Total other income (expens

Loss before income tax
Income tax expens

Net loss

Net loss per share (basic and dilut

Weighted average common shares outstanding (basic

and diluted’

(1) Allocation of equity granted to third parties and@oyees to other operating expen

Satellite and transmissic

(Unaudited)

For the Three Months
Ended June 30,

For the Six Months
Ended June 30,

2005 2004 2005 2004

$ 4962: $ 12,95 $ 91,52¢ $ 22,15:
1,05: 13C 1,58¢ 15C
1,50z 14C 2,27( 19C

17 10 28 29
52,19¢ 13,23( 95,41( 22,52
6,66¢ 8,18: 13,48; 16,59
16,14 10,40¢ 40,63 19,09
7,73¢ 4,52¢ 17,23( 8,38¢
1,95: 40E 2,92¢ 46¢
33,86: 35,06¢ 68,77+ 60,74¢
68,69 34,71’ 135,78 61,69:
14,12( 11,33; 28,95; 19,20
11,78¢ 5,917 23,44 11,64¢
24,58 23,58: 49,08: 47,27:
41,23( 12,08¢ 79,93¢ 29,90
226,77! 146,21 460,25 275,01
(174,58)  (132,98Y)  (364,84)  (252,49)
4,79( 1,94¢ 9,271 3,61¢
(7,20) (5,269 (14,526 (28,969

7 71 52 71
(2,404) (3,252) (5,197  (25,28))
(176,980  (136,23)  (370,03) (277,77
(56() (560) (1,120 (3,081
$ (177,540 $ (136,79) $ (371,15) $ (280,85¢)
$ (019 $ (1) $ (029 $ (0.29
1,324,270 123592 1,319,3L  1,226,76.
$ 42¢ $ 171 $ 98 $ 59F



Programming and conte 5,09¢ 1,04¢ 10,00¢
Customer service and billir 12€ 46 26&
Sales and marketir 7,22¢ 3,38( 20,63¢
Subscriber acquisition cos 12,53 3,96¢ 18,76:
General and administratiy 8,33: 2,907 15,60¢
Engineering, design and developm 7,48¢ 56¢ 13,66¢

Total equity granted to third parties and employ $41,23C $12,08 $ 79,93¢

See Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Siztés.
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2,871
132
15,38
4,06
5,25¢
1,59¢

$ 29,90¢




SIRIUS SATELLITE RADIO INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

June 30, 2005 December 31, 2004
(Unaudited)
ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivale $ 576,91 $ 753,89:
Marketable securitie 45C 5,27
Prepaid expense 15,757 12,95¢
Restricted investmen — 4,70¢
Other current asse 47,35¢ 34,21(
Total current asse 640,48( 811,04(
Property and equipment, r 839,56¢ 881,28
FCC license 83,65¢ 83,65¢
Restricted investments, net of current por 92,61¢ 92,61f
Deferred financing fee 11,80: 13,14(
Other lon¢-term asset 73,41« 75,88¢
Total asset $ 1,741,53. $ 1,957,61.
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expel $ 206,39 $ 182,93:
Accrued interes 5,60¢ 5,75¢
Deferred revenu 122,09: 80,82
Total current liabilities 334,09¢ 269,51
Long-term debi 654,30° 656,27+
Deferred revenue, net of current port 24,79 15,69:
Other lon¢-term liabilities 11,28 15,50:
Total liabilities 1,024,48. 956,98(
Stockholders' equity
Common stock, $0.001 par value: 2,500,000,000 stearthorized,
1,326,747,936 and 1,276,922,634 shares issuedusidiiading a
June 30, 2005 and December 31, 2004, respec 1,327 1,27
Additional paic-in capital 2,990,97 2,916,19'
Deferred compensatic (38,239 (50,969
Accumulated other comprehensive | — (24)
Accumulated defici (2,237,01) (1,865,851
Total stockholders' equit 717,05: 1,000,63.
Total liabilities and stockholders' equ $ 1,741,53. $ 1,957,61.

See Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Biertés.
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Balances, December 31,
2004

Net loss

Change in unrealized gai
on available-for-sale
securities

Total comprehensive ot

Issuance of common stoc
to employees and
employee benefit plar

Issuance of common stoc
to third parties

Compensation in
connection with the
issuance of stock-base
awards

Issuance of stock-based
awards

Cancellation of stockase!
awards

Amortization of deferred
compensatiol

Equity granted to third
parties

Exercise of options, $0.6°
to $5.08 per shai

Exchange of 3/2 %
Convertible Notes due
2008, including accrue
interest

Exercise of warrants, $0.!
to $2.392 per shal

Balances, June 30, 20

SIRIUS SATELLITE RADIO INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

(Unaudited)
Accumulated
Common Stock Additional Other
Paid-In Deferred Comprehensive Accumulated
Shares Amount Capital Compensatior Loss Deficit Total

1,276,922,63 $1,277 $2,916,190 $ (50,967 $ (24) $ (1,865,85) $1,000,63:
— — — — — (371,159 (371,159
— — — — 24 24
$ (371,13)
2,604,13! 3 2,98¢ — — — 2,991
— — 24C — — — 24C
— — 1,152 — — — 1,152
— — 12,32¢ (12,32¢) — — —
— — (795) 79t — — —
— — — 24,25¢ — — 24,25t
— — 50,44¢ — — — 50,44¢
4,429,76! 4 6,28t — — — 6,28¢
1,597,82 2 2,17¢ — — — 2,17
41,193,57 41 41 — — — _
1,326,747,93 $1,327 $2,99097 $ (38,239 $ i $ (2,237,01) $ 717,05:

See Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Siztés.

3




SIRIUS SATELLITE RADIO INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

Cash flows from operating activitie

Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Depreciatior
Nonr-cash interest expen
Loss on disposal of property and equipnr
Equity granted to third parties and employ
Deferred income taxe

Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Marketable securitie
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Other lon¢-term asset
Accrued interes
Accounts payable and accrued expel
Deferred revenu
Other lon¢-term liabilities

Net cash used in operating activit

Cash flows from investing activitie
Additions to property and equipme
Sale of property and equipme
Purchase of restricted investme
Release of restricted investme
Maturities of availabl-for-sale securitie

Net cash used in investing activiti
Cash flows from financing activitie
Proceeds from issuance of l--term debt, ne
Proceeds from exercise of stock opti
Proceeds from exercise of warra
Other
Net cash provided by financing activiti

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of g

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of pr

See Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Sigtés.
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For the Six Months
Ended June 30,

2005 2004
$ (371,159 $ (280,85¢)
49,08 47,27:
1,52: 20,59
252 19
79,93¢ 29,90
1,12( 3,081
16 (92)
(15,767) (29)
47¢ (3,414
(126) 2,87¢
26,00: 29,47
50,37+ 17,96¢
(3,542) (1,974
(181,805 (135,179
(10,869 (10,340
59 28
(6,29)) (85,000
10,997 —
4,83¢ 25,00
(1,262 (70,31%)
— 293,60(
6,10¢ 5,147
— 19,85(
(8) (67)
6,09¢ 318,53(
(176,97 113,04«
753,89; 520,97¢
$ 576,91¢ $ 634,02






SIRIUS SATELLITE RADIO INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Dollar amounts in thousands, unless otherwise stadl)
(Unaudited)

1. Business

We are a leading provider of satellite radithe United States. We currently offer more th@0 channels-65 channels of commercial-
free music and over 55 channels of sports, neks,gatertainment, traffic and weather programnfimga monthly subscription fee of $12.
We offer discounts for pre-paid, long-term and mplgt subscriptions.

Since inception, we have used substants&uees to develop our satellite radio system.<atellite radio system consists of our FCC
license, satellites, national broadcast studioestrial repeater network, satellite uplink fagilénd satellite telemetry, tracking and control
facilities. On July 1, 2002, we launched our segviationwide.

As of June 30, 2005, we had 1,814,626 sillmsras compared with 1,143,258 subscribers Beoémber 31, 2004 and 480,341
subscribers as of June 30, 2004. Our subscribastimticlude subscribers under our regular pricilgg as well as subscribers currently in
promotional periods; subscribers that have prepadadiiding payments received from automakers feppid bundled subscriptions included
in the sale or lease price of a new vehicle; anid@SIRIUS radios under our agreement with Hertz.

Our primary source of revenue is subscnpfees. We also derive revenues from activation,fd® sale of advertising on our non-music
channels and the direct sale of SIRIUS radios andssories.

2. Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Preseation

The accompanying unaudited consolidatechfire statements of Sirius Satellite Radio Inc. asdubsidiary have been prepared in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accoumptimgiples and the instructions to Form 10-Q anticke 10 of Regulation S-X for interim
financial reporting. Accordingly, they do not indiiall of the information and footnotes requiredb$. generally accepted accounting
principles for complete financial statements. Aliercompany transactions have been eliminatednealmation.

In presenting the unaudited consolidatedrfaial statements, management makes estimatessimahgtions that affect the amounts
reported and related disclosures. Estimates, hyraéure, are based on judgment and availablenmdtion. Actual results could differ from
those estimates. In the opinion of managementaathal recurring adjustments necessary for a faisgntation of the consolidated financial
statements as of June 30, 2005 and December 34, 200 for the three and six months ended Jun2@X5 and 2004, have been recorded.
The results of operations for the three and sixtitmoended June 30, 2005 are not necessarily indioatt the results that may be expected for
the full year. Our unaudited consolidated finanstaktements should be read together with our cwlaet financial statements and footnotes
contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for ylear ended December 31, 2004.

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Stock-Based Compensation

We have adopted the disclosure provisiorStafement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SHA®. 148, “Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure—An #dngent of FASB Statement No. 123.” The measuraiofvilue most often
employed under SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for St@8a@sed Compensation,” and used by us, is the Blabtiol8s option valuation model
(“Black-Scholes”). Black-Scholes was developeduse in estimating the fair market value of tradptiams, which have no vesting
restrictions and are fully transferable. Optionuadion models require the input of highly subjeetassumptions, including the expected

5




SIRIUS SATELLITE RADIO INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

(Dollar amounts in thousands, unless otherwise stadl)
(Unaudited)

stock price volatility. Because our stock-basedrawdave characteristics significantly differemtrfr those of traded options and because
changes in the subjective input assumptions caemally affect the fair market value estimate, ur opinion, the existing option valuation
models do not necessarily provide a reliable singgasure of the fair value of our stock-based asvard

The following table illustrates the effect et loss and net loss per share had stock-basepensation for employees been recorded
based on the fair value method under SFAS No. 123:

For the Three Months For the Six Months
Ended June 30, Ended June 30,
2005 2004 2005 2004
Net los—as reportet $(177,540) $(136,79) $(371,15¢) $(280,85¢)
Stock-based compensation to employeasetuded in equit
granted to third parties and employ: 13,85 4,79¢ 27,30¢ 12,86:
Stocl-based compensation to employ—pro forma (23,905 (15,609 (50,55)) (31,876
Net los—pro forma $(187,59¢) $(147,60¢) $(394,40Y) $(299,87)
Net loss per shar:
Basic and dilute—as reportet $ (019 $ (0.1 $ (029 $ (0.29
Basic and dilute—pro forma $ (019 $ (012 $ (030 $ (0.29

The pro forma stock-based compensation fgl@mees was estimated using Black-Scholes witHdhewing assumptions for each
period:

For the Three Months For the Six Months
Ended June 30, Ended June 30,
2005 2004 2005 2004
Risk-free interest rat 3.81% 3.7% 3.88% 3.7%
Expected life of optior—years 5.7: 5.3C 5.44 5.3C
Expected stock price volatilit 112% 114% 11%% 114%
Expected dividend yiel N/A N/A N/A N/A

Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs are expessadurred. Research and development costs fahtee months ended June 30, 2005 and
2004 were $8,371 and $5,678, respectively, and3®85nd $10,041 for the six months ended June@®¥h and 2004, respectively, and are
included in engineering, design and developmen¢ers@s in our accompanying unaudited consolidasednsents of operations.

Net (Loss) Income Per Share

We compute net (loss) income per sharedom@ance with SFAS No. 128, “Earnings Per SharasiBnet (loss) income per share is
calculated using the weighted average common shatetanding during each reporting period. Dilutedl (loss) income per share adjusts the
weighted average common shares outstanding fqrdtential dilution that could occur if common staajuivalents (convertible debt,
warrants, stock options and restricted stock umiexe exercised or converted into common stock. i@omstock equivalents of
approximately 227,000,000 and 233,000,000 for tineet and six months ended June 30, 2005, respigctaved 188,000,000 and 170,000,000

for the three and six months ended June 30, 2@8pectively, were not considered in the calculatibdiluted net loss per share as the effect
would have been anti-dilutive.




SIRIUS SATELLITE RADIO INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

(Dollar amounts in thousands, unless otherwise stadl)
(Unaudited)

Comprehensive (Loss) Income

We report comprehensive (loss) income iroadance with SFAS No. 130, “Reporting Comprehensieeme.” SFAS No. 130
established a standard for reporting and displagthgr comprehensive (loss) income and its compsneithin financial statements.
Unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sadarsties are the only component of our other ca@hensive (loss) income. Comprehensive
loss for the three months ended June 30, 2005 @4 ®as $177,546 and $136,830, respectively, ard,$34 and $280,908 for the six
months ended June 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Marketable Securities

We account for marketable securities in ed@oce with the provisions of SFAS No. 115, “Acctiog for Certain Investments in Debt
and Equity Securities.” Marketable securities ceinsf U.S. government notes, U.S. government agehtigations and certificates of deposit
and are classified as available-for-sale securifigailable-for-sale securities are carried at faéirket value and unrealized gains and losses
are included as a component of stockholders' eguiyrecognized a loss on the sale or maturity afketable securities of $16 for the six
months ended June 30, 2005 and a gain on the rsalatarity of marketable securities of $76 for #fite months ended June 30, 2004, none of
which were recognized during the three months eddee 30, 2005 and 2004. We received proceedsdates of marketable securities of
$4,835 and $25,000 for the six months ended Jun2@I5 and 2004, respectively. Marketable secsritedd at June 30, 2005 mature within
one year from the date of purchase. There werenrealized holding gains or losses on marketablergass for the six months ended
June 30, 2005. We had unrealized holding losseaamketable securities of $24 as of December 314200

Restricted Investments

Restricted investments consist of fixed mecsecurities, which are stated at amortized éasof June 30, 2005 and December 31, 2004,
long-term restricted investments were $92,615. Sfeom restricted investments were $4,706 as oebdaer 31, 2004. Long-term restricted
investments included the $85,000 escrow deposibimection with our National Football League (“Nffldgreement which is invested under
our direction in certificates of deposit and wid brawn by the NFL to pay the rights fees duelier2006-2007, 2007-2008 and 2008-2009
NFL seasons and certificates of deposit and UrStates government obligations pledged to securesdmbursement obligations unc
letters of credit issued primarily for the benefithe lessor of our headquarters. As of DecembeRB04, short-term restricted investments
included monies deposited in escrow to secure bligation to reimburse Ford for certain costs imedrin connection with the introduction
SIRIUS radios as a factory option, including castsociated with tooling, facilities, non-recurrigggineering, marketing and equipment
subsidies. The escrow for Ford was terminated ire 2005.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2004, the Financial Accountitan8ards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 123R, “8hBased Payment.” SFAS
No. 123R revises SFAS No. 123 and supersedes Atinguprinciples Board Opinior*APB”) No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees.” In April 2005, the SEC announced SFAS N 3R would be effective no later than the beigigrof the first fiscal year
beginning after June 15, 2005. We will adopt thevimions of SFAS No. 123R effective January 1, 2@&BAS No. 123R requires all share-
based payments to employees to be recognized fintecial statements based on fair value. We atlreiccount for share-based payments
to employees using APB No. 25's intrinsic valuehmdt Under SFAS
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SIRIUS SATELLITE RADIO INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

(Dollar amounts in thousands, unless otherwise stadl)
(Unaudited)

No. 123R we will be required to follow a fair valapproach, such as the Bl-Scholes or lattice option valuation models, atdhte of a
stock-based award grant. SFAS No. 123R permitobhgo methods of adoption: (1) modified prospeetiaethod or (2) modified
retrospective method. We plan to adopt SFAS NoR128ing the modified prospective method. This metlemuires that we recognize
compensation expense for all share-based paymeariged on or after January 1, 2006 and for all d&/granted to employees prior to
January 1, 2006 that remain unvested on Janu&®08. In March 2005, the SEC issued Staff AccognBalletin (“SAB”) No. 107, which
expresses the views of the SEC regarding the ttterabetween SFAS No. 123R and certain SEC ruidsegulations. SAB No. 107
provides guidance related to the valuation of shased payment arrangements for public compamielsiding assumptions such as guidance
related to share-based payment transactions witkentployees, expected volatility, expected termthedaccounting for income tax effects
of share-based payment arrangements upon adopt®RAS No. 123R. The adoption of SFAS No. 123Rxjgeeted to have a material
impact on our equity granted to third parties amghiyees included in our consolidated statementgpefations in future periods, although it
will have no impact on our overall financial positi

Reclassifications
Certain amounts in the prior period consakd financial statements have been reclassifiedrform to the current period presentation.
4. Subscriber Revenue

Subscriber revenue consists of subscrigées, non-refundable activation fees and the effetimail-in rebates. Revenues received from
automakers for prepaid subscriptions included éngile or lease price of a new vehicle are aldaded in subscriber revenue.

Subscriber revenue consists of the following

For the Three Months For the Six Months
Ended June 30, Ended June 30,
2005 2004 2005 2004
Subscription fee $ 50,057 $ 13,067 $ 90,65¢ $ 22,92¢
Activation fees 1,34¢ 327 2,88¢ 731
Effect of mai-in rebate (1,781 (444 (2,013 (1,505
Total subscriber revent $ 49,62: $ 12,95( $ 91,52¢ $ 22,15

5. Supplemental Cash Flow Disclosures
The following represents supplemental césh information:

For the Six Months
Ended June 30,

2005 2004

Cash paid for intere: $13,127 $ 5,637
Supplemental nc-cash operating activitie

Common stock issued in satisfaction of accrued emsatior 2,557 91:
Supplemental nc-cash investing and financing activiti

Common stock issued to the NI — 40,96’

Common stock issued in exchange éf 3% Convertible Notes due 2008,

including accrued intere 2,177  86,56¢




SIRIUS SATELLITE RADIO INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

(Dollar amounts in thousands, unless otherwise stadl)

(Unaudited)
6. Long-Term Debt
Our long-term debt consists of the following
As of
Conversion
Price December 31,
(per share) June 30, 2005 2004
31/4% Convertible Notes due 20: $ 5.3C $ 230,00¢( $ 230,00
21/2% Convertible Notes due 20! 4.41 300,00 300,00
31/2% Convertible Notes due 20! 1.3¢ 65,04t 67,25(
83/4% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2 28.462" 1,74« 1,744
141/2% Senior Secured Notes due 2( N/A 28,31¢ 28,08(
15% Senior Secured Discount Notes due 2 N/A 29,20( 29,20(
Total lon¢-term debt $ 654300 $ 656,27

31/4% Convertible Notes due 2011

In October 2004, we issued $230,000 in agageeprincipal amount of ourd34 % Convertible Notes due 2011 resulting in net peodseo
$224,813. These notes are convertible, at the mptithe holder, into shares of our common stockngttime at a conversion rate of 188.6
shares of common stock for each $1,000.00 prineipadunt, or $5.30 per share of common stock, stijezertain adjustments. Our/34 %
Convertible Notes due 2011 mature on October 151 2(hd interest is payable semi-annually on Agibhd October 15 of each year. The
obligations under our 34 % Convertible Notes due 2011 are not secured by#&oyr assets.

21/2% Convertible Notes due 2009

In February 2004, we issued $250,000 ineggpe principal amount of our'22 % Convertible Notes due 2009 resulting in net pedse
of $244,625. In March 2004, we issued an additi®38l,000 in aggregate principal amount of o 2% Convertible Notes due 2009
pursuant to an option granted in connection withittitial offering of the notes, resulting in nebpeeds of $48,975. These notes are
convertible, at the option of the holder, into &sanf our common stock at any time at a convensisof 226.7574 shares of common stock
for each $1,000.00 principal amount, or $4.41 pare of common stock, subject to certain adjustmentir 2/2 % Convertible Notes due
2009 mature on February 15, 2009 and interestyialpa semiannually on February 15 and August 15 of each ydae.obligations under ol
2 /2% Convertible Notes due 2009 are not secured byoaoyr assets.

31/2% Convertible Notes due 2008

In May 2003, we issued $201,250 in aggregeteipal amount of our 2% Convertible Notes due 2008 resulting in net pedseof
$194,224. These notes are convertible, at the mptithe holder, into shares of our common stockngttime at a conversion rate of 724.6
shares of common stock for each $1,000.00 prineipadunt, or $1.38 per share of common stock, stitgezertain adjustments. Ouf2 %
Convertible Notes due 2008 mature on June 1, 2668rderest is payable semi-annually on June 1Dmwkmber 1 of each year. The
obligations under our 3 2% Convertible Notes due 2008 are not secured byhoyr assets.

During the six months ended June 30, 20@5issued 1,597,826 shares of our common stockdhnagge for $2,177 in aggregate
principal amount of our 3 2% Convertible Notes due 2008, including accruedrasgt. In January 2004, we issued 56,409,853 shams
common stock in exchange for $69,000 in aggregateipal amount of our 3/2% Convertible Notes due 2008, including accrueerast.
In connection with these transactions, we incuthelt conversion costs
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SIRIUS SATELLITE RADIO INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

(Dollar amounts in thousands, unless otherwise stadl)
(Unaudited)

of $19,592 for the six months ended June 30, 2R@4debt conversion costs were recognized for theethnd six months ended June 30,
2005.

7. Stockholders' Equity
Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share

We are authorized to issue 2,500,000,008shaf our common stock. As of June 30, 2005, apprately 505,057,000 shares of our
common stock were reserved for issuance in cororeatith outstanding convertible debt, warrants ewegntive stock plans.

During the six months ended June 30, 200p|@yees exercised 4,429,766 stock options at eseeprices ranging from $0.67 to $5.08
per share, resulting in proceeds to us of $6,28%i® amount, $6,104 was collected as of June2805.

In October 2004, we sold 25,000,000 shafesiocommon stock resulting in net proceeds of,$28.

In January 2004, we signed a seven-yeaeawnt with the NFL. We delivered to the NFL 15,078, shares of our common stock
valued at $40,967 upon execution of this agreenférgse shares of common stock are subject to neraaisfer restrictions which lapse over
time. We recognized $1,860 and $293 of expenseciated with these shares during the six monthsaddee 30, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. Of the remaining $34,822 in commamtlsivalue, $5,852 and $28,970 are included in atheent assets and other long-term
assets, respectively, on our accompanying unauddesolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2005.

Warrants

In June 2004, we issued DaimlerChrysler A&rants to purchase up to 21,500,000 shares afaumon stock at an exercise price of
$1.04 per share. These warrants vest based oclilevament of various performance milestones, ol the volume thresholds contained
in our agreement with DaimlerChrysler. These wasaaplaced warrants issued to DaimlerChrysler A@c¢tober 2002.

In February 2004, we announced an agreemiimRadioShack Corporation to distribute, markad aell SIRIUS radios. In connection
with this agreement, we issued RadioShack wartamsirchase up to 10,000,000 shares of our commack.sThese warrants have an
exercise price of $5.00 per share and vest andeexercisable if RadioShack achieves activatioyeta during the five-year term of the
agreement.

In January 2004, we signed an agreementRétiske Automotive Group, Inc., United Auto Grolng,, Penske Truck Leasing Co. L.P.
and Penske Corporation (collectively, the “Pengk@amganies”). In connection with this agreement, yeead to issue the Penske companies
warrants to purchase up to 38,000,000 shares afaumon stock at an exercise price of $2.392 paresiiwo million of these warrants
vested upon issuance. The balance of these wakrasit®ver time and upon achievement of certaiestohes by the Penske companies. In
January 2005, Penske exercised 2,400,000 vestednisin a series of cashless exercises. In coonegith these transactions, we issued
1,655,070 shares of our common stock.

In January 2004, we issued the NFL warremfsurchase 50,000,000 shares of our common staak @xercise price of $2.50 per share.
Of these warrants, 16,666,665 vest upon the dgliveus of media assets by the NFL and its memlobscand 33,333,335 of these warrants
will be earned by the NFL or its member clubs asaeguire subscribers which are directly trackabteugh their efforts.
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SIRIUS SATELLITE RADIO INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

(Dollar amounts in thousands, unless otherwise stadl)
(Unaudited)

In March 2003, we also issued warrants t@ipase 45,416,690 shares of our common stock inagxe for all of our outstanding 9.2%
Series A Junior Cumulative Convertible Preferreac®tand 9.2% Series B Junior Cumulative Convertibigferred Stock held by affiliates
Apollo Management, L.P. (“Apollo”). Warrants to phiase 27,250,013 shares of our common stock hageanise price of $1.04 per share,
and warrants to purchase 18,166,677 shares ofomomon stock had an exercise price of $0.92 peeskguollo exercised all of its warrants
prior to their expiration on March 7, 2005 in aiserf cashless exercises. In connection with th@ssactions, we issued 39,538,505 shares
of our common stock.

Warrants to acquire shares of our commocksieere outstanding as follows (shares in thousands

Number of Warrants
Outstanding as of

Average

Exercise
Expiration December 31

Price Date June 30, 200! 2004

NFL $ 2.5C March 200~March 201C 50,00( 50,00(
Apollo 0.9¢ March 200% — 45,41
Penske companie 2.39: January 200! 35,60( 38,00(
DaimlerChrysle: 1.04 May 2012 21,50( 21,50(
RadioShacl 5.0C December 201 10,00( 10,00(
Ford 3.0C September 201 4,00( 4,00(¢
Other distribution and programming partn 3.1¢  January 20C—June 201« 9,14¢ 9,36:
Other 20.3¢ June 200—April 2011 4,53 6,33¢
Total $ 3.0¢ 134,78: 184,61

We recognized expense of $24,528 and $6rl6@nnection with warrants for the three monthdeghJune 30, 2005 and 2004,
respectively, and $46,024 and $15,378 for the girtits ended June 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

8. Benefit Plans

In January 2003, our board of directors aeldphe Sirius Satellite Radio 2003 Long-Term Stidentive Plan (the “2003 Plan”), and on
March 4, 2003 our stockholders approved this plamMay 25, 2004, our stockholders approved an amentito the 2003 Plan to include
members of our board of directors as eligible pgréints. Employees, consultants and members di@and of directors are eligible to rece
awards under the 2003 Plan. The 2003 Plan proYatd@be grant of stock options, restricted sto@stricted stock units and other stock-based
awards that the compensation committee of our bofdirectors may deem appropriate.

Vesting and other terms of stock-based asvard set forth in the agreements with the indiisiueceiving the awards. Stock-based
awards granted under the 2003 Plan are generdljgcuo a vesting requirement that includes onallasf the following: (1) over time,
generally three to five years from the date of gré) on a specific date in future periods, witlt@leration to earlier periods if performance
criteria are satisfied; or (3) as certain perforogtargets set at the time of grant are achieviedkSased awards generally expire ten years
from the date of grant. Each restricted stock entttles the holder to receive one share of ourmomstock upon vesting.

As of June 30, 2005, approximately 114,33@ 8tock options, shares of restricted stock astlicged stock units were outstanding.
Approximately 96,793,000 shares of our common steeke available for grant under the 2003 Plan akiné 30, 2005.

11
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(Dollar amounts in thousands, unless otherwise stadl)
(Unaudited)

Stock Options

During the six months ended June 30, 20@5granted 1,107,467 non-qualified stock optiorfaiatmarket value on the date of grant
with an average exercise price of $5.42 per share.

We recorded additional deferred compensaifd207 during the six months ended June 30, 20@bnnection with stock options
granted. As of June 30, 2005 and December 31, 2084ad $4,179 and $7,363, respectively, of dedecoenpensation in connection with
stock options granted to employees below fair markkie at the date of grant and stock optionstgrhto members of our board of directors.
Such deferred compensation is being amortized perese over the vesting period. We also record esqpfr stock options granted to
consultants based on fair value at the date oftgrmdetermined in accordance with SFAS No. 123r&egnized stock compensation
expense associated with stock options of $4,578&r®iL0 for the three months ended June 30, 2002@04, respectively, and $8,708 and
$7,314 for the six months ended June 30, 2005 @6d,Zespectively. Stock compensation expense @ssdavith stock options for the three
and six months ended June 30, 2005 includes aelwdu$d 79 for an employee that was deemed to kenafin the modification of a stock-
based award resulting in a new measurement daperisg associated with stock options is recordedcasnponent of equity granted to third
parties and employees in our accompanying unauddgadolidated statements of operations.

Restricted Stock Units and Restricted Stock
During the six months ended June 30, 20@5granted 1,060,586 restricted stock units, wignaat date fair value of $6.00 per share.

In November 2004, we granted 3,000,000 shaefreestricted common stock. The restrictions iepple to these shares lapse in equal
installments on November 18 of each of the nex jigars beginning on November 18, 2005.

We recorded additional deferred compensaif@2,119 during the six months ended June 305 20 connection with restricted stock
units granted. As of June 30, 2005 and Decembe2@¥4, we had $34,060 and $43,600, respectivelgeterred compensation associated
with restricted stock and restricted stock unitsctSdeferred compensation is being amortized teesg over the vesting period and is
recorded as a component of equity granted to fharties and employees in our accompanying unauddesdolidated statements of
operations. We recognized stock compensation erpessociated with these restricted stock unitsshades of restricted stock of $9,795 and
$3,180 for the three months ended June 30, 2002604 respectively, and $19,096 and $6,559 fosthenonths ended June 30, 2005 and
2004, respectively. For the three and six montlieérdune 30, 2005, we also recognized stock corapen®xpense of $773 and $1,611,
respectively, for restricted stock units expectetde granted in February 2006 for services perfdrin€005.

401(k) Savings Plan

We sponsor the Sirius Satellite Radio 408&yings Plan (the “Plan”) for eligible employe€ke Plan allows eligible employees to
voluntarily contribute from 1% to 50% of their pi@x salary subject to certain defined limits. Cathewe match 50% of employee voluntary
contributions, up to 6% of an employee's tae-salary, in the form of shares of our commomlst@ur matching contribution vests at a rat
33Y/3% for each year of employment and is fully vestitdrahree years of employment. Expense resultiagnfour matching contribution
the Plan was $249 and $182 for the three monthededigne 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and $8d&364 for the six months ended
June 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
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We may also elect to contribute to the preffiaring portion of the Plan based upon the tmaipensation of all participants eligible to
receive an allocation. These additional contrimgiaeferred to as prof#haring contributions, are determined by the corsgion committe
of our board of directors. Employees are only blgyto share in profit-sharing contributions durargy year in which they are employed on
the last day of the year. Profit-sharing contribntexpense was $1,088 and $2,089 for the thresiamdonths ended June 30, 2005,
respectively.

9. Income Taxes

We recorded income tax expense of $560doh@f the three months ended June 30, 2005 artl&@0$1,120 and $3,081 for the six
months ended June 30, 2005 and 2004, respectieth expense represents the recognition of a edféax liability related to the difference
in accounting for our FCC license, which is amatiover 15 years for tax purposes but not amorfizedook purposes.

10. Commitments and Contingencies

We have entered into various contracts, Whigve resulted in significant cash obligationfuimre periods. The following table
summarizes our expected contractual cash commigaandf June 30, 2005:

Remaining
Thereafter
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 Total
Lease obligation $ 417¢ $ 8361 $ 7,69 $ 7,507 $ 7,46( $ 33,18. $ 68,38
Satellite and transmissic 1,57¢ 3,15¢ 3,15¢ 3,15¢ 3,15¢ 15,027 29,22t
Programming and conte 32,82 114,89¢ 89,10¢ 97,89, 125,22! 148,80( 608,74
Customer service and billir 1,75t 5,56( 3,03z — — — 10,34"
Marketing and distributio 60,18¢ 30,08¢ 15,60¢ 10,32( 13,60( 22,85( 152,65:
Chip set development and product 16,50( 6,631 — — — — 23,13
Total contractual cash
commitments $117,02. $168,69: $118,58¢ $118,87¢ $149,44( $219,85( $892,48:

Lease Obligations
We have entered into operating leases klateur national broadcast studio, office spaeeestrial repeaters and equipment.
Satellite and Transmission

We have entered into agreements with thandigs to operate and maintain our off-site sagetélemetry, tracking and control facilities
and certain components of our terrestrial repasterork.

Programming and Content

We have entered into agreements with licengbprogramming and other content providers @andertain instances, are obligated to pay
license fees and guarantee minimum advertisingweyshare. In addition, we have agreements witlbwsirights organizations pursuant to
which we pay royalties for public performances afsic.
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Customer Service and Billing
We have entered into agreements with thamdigs to provide customer service, billing andssuiber management services.
Marketing and Distribution

We have entered into various marketing, spsship and distribution agreements to promoteboamnd and are obligated to make
payments to sponsors, retailers, automakers ama mehufacturers under these agreements. In addi@rtain programming and content
agreements require us to purchase advertisingapepies owned or controlled by the licensors. \&eehalso agreed to reimburse autome
for certain engineering and development costs &#sacwith the incorporation of SIRIUS radios iv@hicles they manufacture.

Chip Set Development and Production

We have entered into agreements with thandigs to develop, produce and supply chip setsjranertain instances to license intellectual
property related to such chip sets. Certain ofdteggeements require that we also purchase a nmimiguantity of chip sets.

Joint Development Agreement

Under the terms of a joint development agreemetit XM Radio, the other holder of a FCC satellitdioalicense, each party is obligat
to fund one half of the development cost for aiedistandard for satellite radios. The costs rdl&iehe joint development agreement are
being expensed as incurred to engineering, desigrdavelopment expense in our accompanying unaldiesolidated statements of
operations. We are currently unable to determieestpenditures necessary to complete this probasthey may be significant.

Other Commitments

In addition to the contractual cash committealescribed above, we have also entered int@agnmets with automakers, radio
manufacturers and others that include per-radiopg@ndubscriber payments and revenue share arrangerfiete future costs are depenc
upon many factors and are difficult to anticipdteywever, these costs may be substantial. We may &6 additional programming,
distribution, marketing and other agreements thatain similar provisions.

We are required under the terms of certain agreenterprovide letters of credit and deposit moiriesscrow, which place restrictions
our cash and cash equivalents. As of June 30, 208%ecember 31, 2004, $92,615 and $97,321, resplgcivere classified as restricted
investments as a result of our reimbursement dfbdiga under these letters of credit and escrowngements.

As of June 30, 2005, we have not enteremlany off-balance sheet arrangements or transaction
11. Subsequent Event

In August 2005, we agreed to sell $500,008ggregate principal amount of out/8 % Senior Notes due 2013 in a private transaction
exempt from registration under the Securities Ad283 pursuant to Rule 144A.
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Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of @ncial Condition and Results of Operations
(All dollar amounts are in thousandsynless otherwise stated)

Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

The following cautionary statements ideniifyportant factors that could cause our actuallteso differ materially from those projected
in forward-looking statements made in this Quayt&éport on Form 10-Q and in other reports and adwnis published by us from time to
time. Any statements about our beliefs, plans,ailjes, expectations, assumptions, future evenpedormance are not historical facts and
may be forward-looking. These statements are oftehnot always, made through the use of wordshoaiges such as “will likely result,ate
expected to,” “will continue,” “i

is anticipated,” $&imated,” “intends,” “plans,” “projection” and “dieok.” Any forward-looking statements
are qualified in their entirety by reference to thetors discussed throughout our Annual Repoiff@amn 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2004 (the “Form 10-K”) and in othgrars and documents published by us from timene tiparticularly the risk factors
described under “Business—Risk Factors” in Paftthe Form 10-K.

Among the significant factors that could ®awur actual results to differ materially fromsbaexpressed in the forward-looking
statements are:

* the useful life of our satellites, which have exgeced circuit failures on their solar arrays attteo
component failures and are not insur

 our dependence upon third parties, including martufars of SIRIUS radios, retailers, automakers and
programming partners; ai

* our competitive position versus XM Radio, the otbatellite radio service provider in the Unitedt&sa
which has substantially more subscribers than wandbmay have certain competitive advantages, arsi:
other forms of audio and video entertainm

Because the risk factors referred to ab@utdccause actual results or outcomes to diffeenedty from those expressed in any forward-
looking statements made by us or on our behalf,sjmuld not place undue reliance on any of theseaia-looking statements. In addition,
any forward-looking statement speaks only as ofitite on which it is made, and we undertake n@abtn to update any forward-looking
statement or statements to reflect events or cistamees after the date on which the statementde nta reflect the occurrence of
unanticipated events or otherwise. New factors gsm&om time to time, and it is not possible fortagredict which will arise or to assess
with any precision the impact of each factor on lowsiness or the extent to which any factor, orlioation of factors, may cause actual
results to differ materially from those containadany forward-looking statements.

Executive Summary

We currently broadcast more than 120 chanofgbrogramming to listeners across the countrg.dfffer 65 channels of 100%
commercial-free music and feature over 55 charwfedports, news, talk, entertainment, traffic arehther for a monthly subscription fee of
$12.95. We offer discounts for pre-paid, long-temnd multiple subscriptions.

Since inception, we have used substantsgukees to develop our satellite radio system.gatedllite radio system consists of our FCC
license, satellites, national broadcast studioestrial repeater network, satellite uplink fagilénd satellite telemetry, tracking and control
facilities. On July 1, 2002, we launched our sexviationwide.

Our primary source of revenue is subscnpfees. We also derive revenue from activation,féessale of advertising on our non-music
channels and from the direct sale of SIRIUS radius accessories. Currently we receive an averagppbximately nine months of prepaid
revenue per subscriber upon activation.

Our cost of services includes expensesdtmilte and transmission, programming and conmmgtomer service and billing, and costs
associated with the sale of equipment. Satellitt an
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transmission expenses currently consist of cosiscisted with the operation and maintenance ofatellite telemetry, tracking and control
system, terrestrial repeater network, satellitenkpfiacility and national broadcast studio. Progmaimg and content expenses include costs to
acquire, create and produce content, on-air talests and broadcast royalties. Customer servicdidimty expenses include costs associated
with the operation of our customer service ceraeis subscriber management system.

As of June 30, 2005, we had 1,814,626 subscritmerpared with 1,143,258 subscribers as of Decemhe2®4 and 480,341 subscrik
as of June 30, 2004. Our subscriber totals incudbscribers under our regular pricing plans, as$ agesubscribers currently in promotional
periods; subscribers that have prepaid, includagments received from automakers for prepaid sigigms included in the sale or lease
price of a new vehicle; and active SIRIUS radiodemour agreement with Hertz.

The following tables contain a breakdowroof subscribers and other metrics which we usedasure our operating performance:

Subscribers:

As of
June 30, March 31, December 31, September 30, June 30,
2005 2005 2004 2004 2004
Retail® 1,354,79: 1,109,81. 911,25! 534,87 400,42¢
OEM® 432,98t 311,32 203,46¢ 100,26: 55,06¢
Hertz 26,84( 27,55¢ 28,53« 27,15 24,84’
Total subscriber 1,814,62 1,448,69! 1,143,25! 662,28¢ 480,34

(1) Retail includes subscribers that were previousdgsified as special markets. All subscriber figdioegprior periods have been reclassi
to conform to the current period presentat

Metrics:

For the Three Months Ended

December 31 September 3C

June 30, March 31, June 30,
2005 2005 2004 2004 2004
Gross subscriber additions—including He
subscriber: 432,68 354,70t 521,47¢ 207,18: 149,16
Deactivated subscribe 66,75¢ 49,27 40,51( 25,23t 20,48¢
Average monthly chur®®) 1.4% 1.2% 1.5% 1.5% 1.€%
ARPU @) $ 105C $ 107z $ 957 $ 108 $ 10.6t
Subscriber acquisition costs per gross
subscriber additio®® $ 16C $ 19C % 124 % 22¢ 3 234
Loss from operations, as repor $(174,58)  $(190,259) $(258,5749 $(167,23)  $(132,98)
Depreciatior 24,58( 24,50: 24,28¢ 23,81 23,58:
Equity granted to third parties and
employee: 41,23( 38,70¢ 79,06t 17,75: 12,08«
Adjusted loss from operatiol®®) $(108,77)  $(127,05) $(155,22) $(125,679 $ (97,319

(1) Average monthly churn represents the number oftiledied subscribers divided by average quarterbseribers.

(2) Average monthly revenue per subscriber, or ARPUeisved from total earned subscriber revenue atédvertising revenue divided
the daily weighted average number of subscriberthi period

(3) Subscriber acquisition costs per gross subscritiditian is derived from total subscriber acquisitimosts and negative margins from the
direct sale of SIRIUS radios and accessories diviethe number of gross subscriber additionsHergeriod. Figures are rounded to the



nearest whole dolla
(footnotes continued on next page)
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(footnotes continued from previous page)

(4) Adjusted loss from operations represents the lasa bperations before depreciation and equity @it third parties and employees.
We believe adjusted loss from operations is ugefuivestors because it represents operating egpansluding the effects of non-cash
items. This measure most closely resembles EBITd®fined as net loss before interest income, intergsense, income taxes,
depreciation and amortization. EBITDA is a commimaficial measure used in analyzing the performahcempanies

(5) Average monthly churn, ARPU, subscriber acquisitonts per gross subscriber addition and adjustsiftom operations are not
measures of financial performance under U.S. géperecepted accounting principles and are usedsgs a measure of operating
performance. As a result, these metrics may besgtibde to varying calculations; may not be compberado other similarly titled
measures of other companies; and should not bédssad in isolation or as a substitute for measafdmancial performance preparec
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accoumptimgiples.

Costs associated with acquiring subscribers arergliy incurred and expensed in advance of acquaisubscriber and are recognize
subscriber acquisition costs. We acquire a largegmage of our annual gross subscriber additiotisd fourth quarter of our fiscal year in
connection with holiday sales. As a result, ourssuiber acquisition costs per gross subscribertiadidare generally higher in the first three
quarters of our fiscal year with a decline in tharth quarter as we experience higher activatitesra

SIRIUS radios are primarily distributed thgh retailers and automakers. SIRIUS radios aréadoka for sale at national and regional
retailers, including Best Buy, Circuit City, Radiee®k, Wal-Mart, Crutchfield, Office Depot, Searsrgdet, Ultimate Electronics, Tweeter
Home Entertainment Group, Good Guys, Kmart and DN&tlvork outlets. On June 30, 2005, SIRIUS radiesanavailable at over 25,000
retail locations. SIRIUS radios are also offeredetaters of Hertz vehicles at many airport locatioationwide. In addition, we have
agreements with Ford Motor Company (“Ford”), Dairfllerysler Corporation (“DaimlerChrysler”), MitsubisMotors North America, BMW
of North America, LLC, Nissan North America, Ingglkswagen of America, Inc. and Porsche Cars NArtterica, Inc. that contemplate the
manufacture and sale of vehicles that include SERiadios. We believe our ability to attract anéiresubscribers depends in large part on
creating and sustaining distribution channels i&18S radios and on the quality and entertainmeie of our programming. We expect to
concentrate our future efforts on: enhancing afiding our programming, whether through additioagteements with third parties or our
own creative efforts; introducing SIRIUS radioshwitew features and functions; and expanding thellision of SIRIUS radios through
arrangements with automakers and through additi@ntail points-of-sale.

We have principally funded our operation®tigh the sale of debt and equity securities. B42@e raised additional net proceeds of
$614,438 through the offering of 25,000,000 shafesur common stock, $230,000 in aggregate prin@psount of our 3/4% Convertible
Notes due 2011 and $300,000 in aggregate prinaipalunt of our /2% Convertible Notes due 2009. Such offerings hateeb positioned
us to continue to meet our business plan. In Augd8b, we agreed to sell $500,000 in aggregateipahamount of our %8 % Senior
Notes due 2013 in a private transaction exempt fiegistration under the Securities Act of 1933 parg to Rule 144A

We have incurred operating losses sincepiime and expect to continue to incur operatingéssuntil the number of our subscribers
increases substantially and we develop cash floffcient to cover our operating costs. We alsoéhsiginificant commitments over the next
several years, including subsidies and distributiosts, programming costs, repayment of long-tezbt end lease payments, as further
described under the heading “Contractual Cash Cemmenits.” Our ability to become profitable also degeeupon other factors identified
under the heading “Liquidity and Capital Resourtes.
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Results of Operations
Three Months Ended June 30, 2005 Compared with fifeee Months Ended June 30, 2004
Total Revenue
Subscriber Revenue. Subscriber revenue includes subscription feesyatain fees and the effects of mail-in rebates.

As of June 30, 2005, we had 1,814,626 subscritmerpared with 1,143,258 subscribers at Decembe2®14 and 480,341 subscriber:
of June 30, 2004. Our subscriber totals includesstilbers under our regular pricing plans, as weBwabscribers currently in promotional
periods; subscribers that have prepaid, includagments received from automakers for subscriptincisided in the sale or lease price of a
new vehicle; and active SIRIUS radios under oueagrent with Hertz.

Subscriber revenue increased $36,672 t6$2%pr the three months ended June 30, 2005 fri2@$0 for the three months ended
June 30, 2004. The increase in total subscribemmes was attributable to the growth of subscribersur service. We added 365,931 net new
subscribers during the three months ended Jun2083, compared with 128,678 net new subscribersiguhie three months ended June 30,
2004.

The following table contains a breakdowroof subscriber revenue:

For the
Three Months
Ended June 30,

2005 2004 Variance
Subscription fee $ 50,057 $ 13,06" $ 36,99(
Activation fees 1,34¢ 327 1,01¢
Effects of mak-in rebates (1,78)) (444 (1,337)
Total subscriber revent $ 49,62 $ 12,95( $ 36,67

Future subscriber revenue will be dependpnh, among other things, the growth of our subscribase, promotions and mail-in rebates
offered to subscribers and the identification adiidnal revenue streams from subscribers.

Advertising Revenue. Advertising revenue includes the sale of advergisin our non-music channels, net of agency feesngyfees are
based on a stated percentage per the advertisingragnts applied to gross billing revenue for awestising inventory.

Advertising revenue increased $922 to $1fobzhe three months ended June 30, 2005 from &ir3de three months ended June 30,
2004. The increase was a direct result of an iser@arates and the number of spots sold. Advedistvenue is dependent on the availability
of advertising inventory to sell.

We expect advertising revenue to grow assabscriber base increases and we continue to reffm@and awareness and content.
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ARPU. Average monthly revenue per subscriber, or ARPUdgitved from total earned subscriber revenue ata@advertising revenue
divided by the daily weighted average number ofstbers for the period. Set forth below is a tadtlewing the calculation of ARPU:

For the
Three Months
Ended
June 30,
2005 2004
Average monthly subscriber revenue per subscribtare effects of Hertz subscribers and
mail-in rebates $10.6C $11.1¢
Effects of Hertz subscribe 0.0t (0.29)
Effects of mak-in rebates (0.379)  (0.36€)
Average monthly subscriber revenue per subsc 10.2¢ 10.5¢
Average monthly net advertising revenue per subsc 0.2z 0.11
ARPU $10.5C $10.6¢

The decrease in ARPU to $10.50 for the tmeeths ended June 30, 2005 from $10.65 for treethmonths ended June 30, 2004 is
primarily attributable to the effects of subscriptiplan mix and the timing of the commencemenegénue recognition for prepaid
subscriptions, offset by the effects of overall imgement in our Hertz program and increased adiegtirevenue.

Future ARPU will be dependent upon the amama timing of promotions, mail-in rebates offetedsubscribers, the identification of
additional revenue streams from subscribers andaleeof advertising on our non-music channels.

Equipment Revenue. Equipment revenue includes revenue from the dsalet of SIRIUS radios and accessories.

Equipment revenue increased $1,363 to $1f&0Be three months ended June 30, 2005 from $&idbie three months ended June 30,
2004. The increase was the result of increased #aleugh our direct to consumer distribution clenn

We expect equipment revenue to increasieeriuture as we continue to introduce new prodaiatsas sales through our direct to
consumer distribution channel grow.

Operating Expenses

Satellite and Transmission. Satellite and transmission expenses consist ofhit-satellite insurance and costs associated thih
operation and maintenance of our satellite teleynétacking and control system, terrestrial repeattwork, satellite uplink facility and
national broadcast studio.

Satellite and transmission expenses decreased3bth®b,668 for the three months ended June 3G #0fh $8,183 for the three moni
ended June 30, 2004. The decrease was primarilywattble to a $2,211 reduction in satellite inswweacosts. Effective August 2004, we
discontinued our in-orbit satellite insurance. Tdesision was made after a review of the healthuofsatellite constellation; the exclusions
from coverage contained in the available insuratieerosts of the available insurance; the praxitidether satellite companies as to in-orbit
insurance; and the likelihood that a catastrophiicife of one or more of our satellites may notbeered by the available insurance or would
fall within a policy exclusion. Such decrease wtsai primarily by increased costs associated withuse of security software to prevent the
theft of our service and additions to our personAslof June 30, 2005, we had 140 terrestrial regpedn operation as compared with 134
terrestrial repeaters as of June 30, 2004.

Future increases in satellite and transmisekpenses will be primarily attributable to tleliion of new terrestrial repeaters and
maintenance costs of existing terrestrial repeaberaddition, such expenses may also increasatime periods if we decide to reinstate our
in-orbit satellite insurance or launch new satedlit
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Programming and Content. Programming and content expenses include costjuira, create and produce contentaomtalent costs ar
broadcast royalties. We have entered into variguseaments with third parties for music and non-mpsogramming. These agreements
require us to share advertising revenue, pay leésss, purchase advertising on media propertieedwr controlled by the licensor and pay
certain other guaranteed amounts. Purchased aldngris recorded as a sales and marketing experibe period the advertising is broadc

Programming and content expenses increds@d $to $16,147 for the three months ended Jun2®@% from $10,405 for the three
months ended June 30, 2004. The increase was fyiratiributable to an increase in personnel-relatests and license fees associated with
sports related programming initiatives, such ad\\Bé and college sports. We also incurred additi@meair talent costs due to the expans
of our programming line-up and variable broadcagtlties as a result of the increase in our subschase.

We anticipate that our programming and cainégpenses will increase significantly as we curgito develop and enhance our channels.
Our agreement with Martha Stewart beginning intttiel quarter of 2005, and our agreements with Hav&tern and NASCAR beginning in
2006 and 2007, respectively, will significantly iease our programming and content expenses. Wharbgevaluate new programming
opportunities and may choose to acquire and deved@pcontent or renew current programming agreesriarthe future at substantial cost.

Customer Service and Billing. Customer service and billing expenses include asteciated with the operation of our customeriserv
centers and subscriber management system.

Customer service and billing expenses irsgd#3,209 to $7,738 for the three months endeel 3002005 from $4,529 for the three
months ended June 30, 2004. The increase was fyirdae to increased customer service represertatists and credit card fees necessary
to support the growth of our subscriber base aled@éenmunications charges as a result of the exparsid growth of our call centers to
accommodate the increase in our subscriber bastoi@ar service and billing expenses increased H#pared with an increase in our end
of period subscribers of 278% as of June 30, 2@80fpepared with June 30, 2004. Customer servicd#limd) expenses per average
subscriber per month for the three months ended 30n2005 was $1.60 compared with $3.69 for theetmonths ended June 30, 2004.

We expect our customer care and billing esps to increase and our costs per subscribecteat® as our subscribers grow.

Cost of Equipment. Cost of equipment includes costs for SIRIUS radiod accessories sold through our direct to consdmgibution
channel.

Cost of equipment increased $1,547 to $1{8bthe three months ended June 30, 2005 from $#0He three months ended June 30,
2004. The increase in cost of equipment was atalile to increased sales from our direct to consuliséribution channel, offset by
reductions in the per unit costs of SIRIUS radiod accessories.

We expect cost of equipment to increase in theréutis we continue to introduce new products argakes through our direct to consu
distribution channel grow.

Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expenses include advertisirttianaad production costs and distribution costsiektising
media and production costs primarily include praomal events, sponsorships, media, advertisingymoh and market research.
Distribution costs primarily include the costs e$iduals, market development funds, revenue simak@astore merchandising. Residuals are
monthly fees paid based upon the number of subesrilsing a SIRIUS radio purchased from a retdilarket development funds are fixed
and variable payments to reimburse retailers adid rmanufacturers for the cost of advertising atietbproduct awareness activities.

Sales and marketing expenses decreasedd$tb, 833,862 for the three months ended June 3h #0m $35,066 for the three months
ended June 30, 2004. Advertising media and prooluctdsts decreased primarily due to additionalsciosturred in 2004 for our NFL
marketing campaign. Distribution costs decreasadayily as a result of costs associated with the
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commencement of our sales efforts with RadioShackune 2004, offset by increased retail residuads@EM revenue share as a result of an
increase in subscribers of 278% from 480,341 akiné 30, 2004 to 1,814,626 as of June 30, 20050Vémll decreases in advertising media
and production costs and distribution costs wefgebby additional personnel-related costs to stppa growth.

We expect sales and marketing expenses to incireéise future as we continue to build brand awassrierough national advertising &
promotional activities and expand the distributidrSIRIUS radios. Beginning in 2007, our agreenveith NASCAR will increase our
sponsorship costs included in sales and markelipgrese.

Subscriber Acquisition Costs. Subscriber acquisition costs include hardware sligspaid to radio manufacturers and automakers,
including subsidies paid to automakers who haveejto include a SIRIUS radio and a prepaid subi$eni to our service in the sale or lease
price of a new vehicle; subsidies paid to chipnsahufacturers; and commissions paid to retailedsaaomakers as incentives to purchase,
install and activate SIRIUS radios. The majoritysabscriber acquisition costs are incurred andresgekin advance of acquiring a subscriber.
Subscriber acquisition costs do not include adsiedi loyalty payments to distributors and deatérSIRIUS radios and revenue share
payments to automakers and manufacturers of SIRd®s. Subscriber acquisition costs also do rude amounts capitalized in
connection with our agreement with Hertz, as wainebwnership of the SIRIUS radios used by Hertz.

Subscriber acquisition costs increased 8238 $68,693 for the three months ended June®Ih #om $34,711 for the three months
ended June 30, 2004, an increase of 98%. Oveathe period, gross subscriber additions increas@#hitom 149,164 for the three months
ended June 30, 2004 to 432,687 for the three mamitied June 30, 2005. The increase in subscribeisition costs was attributable to
subsidies for higher shipments of SIRIUS radios emig sets to accommodate the growth of our subschase and commissions resulting
from the increase in gross subscriber additions.

Subscriber acquisition costs per gross siiEtaddition were $160 and $234 for the three tiioended June 30, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. The decline was primarily attributats the reduction in hardware subsidy rates asoménue to reduce manufacturing and ¢
set costs.

We expect total subscriber acquisition ctsigcrease in the future as our gross subsceatiditions increase and we continue to offer
subsidies, commissions and other incentives toieegqubscribers. However, we anticipate that thetscof certain subsidized components of
SIRIUS radios will decrease in the future as maciuf®@rs experience economies of scale in produetimhwe secure additional
manufacturers of these components. We expect shbsacquisition costs per gross subscriber to nemadatively consistent in the third
quarter of 2005 with the second quarter of 2005tardkcline in the fourth quarter of 2005, reflagtihe effects of reductions in hardware
subsidy rates for future generation product andrttpact of inventory sell-through for holiday salfscompetitive forces require us to
increase hardware subsidies or promotions, sulescitquisition costs per gross subscriber addaid increase.

General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses include reshbanupancy, accounting, legal, human resources,
information technology and investor relations costs

General and administrative expenses incce$2¢788 to $14,120 for the three months ended 30n2005 from $11,332 for the three
months ended June 30, 2004. The increase was fyimaesult of additional personnel-related castd rent and occupancy costs to support
the growth of our business.

We expect our general and administrativeeagps to increase in future periods for increasesbpnel-related, services and facility costs
to support our growth.

Engineering, Design and Development. Engineering, design and development expenses iadasts to develop our future generation of
chip sets and new products and costs associatedheitincorporation of SIRIUS radios into vehiceanufactured by automakers.

21




Engineering, design and development expensesased $5,869 to $11,786 for the three momtee June 30, 2005 from $5,917 for the
three months ended June 30, 2004. The increasprmaarily attributable to additional personnel-teld costs to support research and
development efforts, costs associated with toading manufacturing upgrades at DaimlerChrysler ard E© support factory installations of
SIRIUS radios, and product development costs fomext generation of products.

We expect our engineering, desigh and deweémt expenses to increase in future periods asnakers continue their efforts to
incorporate SIRIUS radios across a broad rangkeif vehicles and as we develop future generatibiebip sets and new products and
services.

Equity Granted to Third Parties and Employees. Equity granted to third parties and employees egpéncludes the costs associated with
warrants, stock options, restricted stock, regdtock units and other stock-based awards gramtidird parties pursuant to programming,
sales and marketing and distribution agreementpj@mes; members of our board of directors; coastdt and employee benefit plans.

Equity granted to third parties and employees egpdor warrants increased $18,421 to $24,528 fthtee months ended June 30, 2
from $6,107 for the three months ended June 304.2D@s increase is primarily attributable to expeaccrued based on certain distribution
partners' performance toward achieving eligibleicleh subscriber activation and delivery milestari®gpense associated with warrants that
have not yet vested may change in future periodsrasult of price changes in our common stock.

Equity granted to third parties and empleyeepense for stock options, restricted stockriotstl stock units and other stock-based
awards increased $10,311 to $16,483 for the thmehs ended June 30, 2005 from $6,172 for the tim@ghs ended June 30, 2004. The
increase was primarily attributable to expense @atzd with restricted stock units which acceletatearlier periods as performance targets
for fiscal periods are met, grants of stock-baseards and modifications of existing stock-basedrd@alhe remaining increase was
primarily related to expense accrued for 2005 psifaring and for restricted stock units grantethat we expect to grant for services
performed in 2004 and 2005, respectively.

Future expense associated with equity gdatatehird parties and employees is contingent utpanmber of factors, including the price of
our common stock, valuation assumptions, vestingipions and the timing as to when certain perforceecriteria are met, and could
materially change. Beginning January 1, 2006, wer@quired to adopt Statement of Financial Accaon8tandard (“SFAS”) No. 123R,
“Share-Based Payment.” We plan to adopt SFAS N8R.Zsing the modified prospective method. This mettequires that we recognize
compensation expense for all share-based paymmearited on or after January 1, 2006 and for all de/granted to employees prior to
January 1, 2006 that remain unvested on Janu&@@0B. The adoption of SFAS No. 123R is expectdthte a material impact on our equity
granted to third parties and employees expenseded on our consolidated statements of operatatigugh such impact cannot be
quantified at this time because it will depend barg-based payments granted in the future.

Other Income (Expense)

Interest and Investment Income. Interest and investment income includes interesiwrcash and cash equivalents, marketable segyriti
and restricted investments and net gains on tleeagaharketable securities.

Interest and investment income increase@4®2to $4,790 for the three months ended June@®Ih fom $1,946 for the three months
ended June 30, 2004. The increase was primarifpatihble to the increase in our average cash ashl equivalents balance resulting from
funds raised through offerings of debt securitied an increase in the average interest rate.

Interest Expense. Interest expense includes interest on outstandibg ahd debt conversion costs. Debt conversiors ceptesent the loss
associated with debt exchanged and are calculattdtbalifference between the fair market valueddlittonal shares issued in excess of the
fair
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market value of the amount of shares that woulehseen issued under original conversion ratios.

Interest expense increased $1,932 to $#@0he three months ended June 30, 2005 from $F@6the three months ended June 30,
2004. The increase was primarily due to the issei@afiour 3/4% Convertible Notes due 2011 in October 2004.

Income Tax Expense

Income Tax Expense. We recorded income tax expense of $560 for theethrenths ended June 30, 2005 and 2004. This expense
represents the recognition of a deferred tax lighiélated to the difference in accounting for &@C license, which is amortized over
15 years for tax purposes but not amortized fokimgposes under U.S. generally accepted accouptingiples.

Results of Operations
Six Months Ended June 30, 2005 Compared with th& Bionths Ended June 30, 20C
Total Revenue

Subscriber Revenue. Subscriber revenue increased $69,374 to $91,526.éasix months ended June 30, 2005 from $22, 15théosix
months ended June 30, 2004. The increase in wdtakcsber revenue was attributable to the growtbudiscribers to our service. We added
671,368 net new subscribers during the six mondge June 30, 2005 compared with 219,280 net nbscsibers during the six months
ended June 30, 2004.

The following table contains a breakdowroof subscriber revenue:

For the
Six Months
Ended June 30,
2005 2004 Variance
Subscription fee $ 90,65¢ $ 22,92¢ $ 67,72¢
Activation fees 2,88¢ 731 2,15¢
Effects of mak-in rebates (2,017 (1,505 (50¢)
Total subscriber revent $ 91,52¢ $ 22,15: $ 69,37

Advertising Revenue. Advertising revenue increased $1,436 to $1,58@Hersix months ended June 30, 2005 from $150 fosith
months ended June 30, 2004. The increase wasc digellt of an increase in rates and the numbspafs sold.

ARPU. Set forth below is a table showing the calculatdARPU:

For the
Six Months
Ended
June 30,
2005 2004
Average monthly subscriber revenue per subscrietare effects of Hertz subscribers and
mail-in rebates $10.61 $11.3¢
Effects of Hertz subscribe 0.0¢ (0.3¢)
Effects of mak-in rebate (0.23 (0.70
Average monthly subscriber revenue per subsc 10.41 10.27
Average monthly net advertising revenue per subsc 0.1¢ 0.07
ARPU $10.5¢ $10.3¢



The increase in ARPU to $10.59 for the sonths ended June 30, 2005 from $10.34 for the sinths ended June 30, 2004 is primarily
attributable to the reduced impact of mail-in relsatvhich resulted from an increase in our avesadpscriber base and the reduction of our
first quarter 2005 rebate offer to $30 from $50 @lagible activation; the effects of overall
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improvement in our Hertz program; and increasecgibing revenue. These positive trends were ofisgiart, by the effects of subscription
plan mix and the timing of the commencement of nexserecognition for prepaid subscriptions.

Equipment Revenue. Equipment revenue increased $2,080 to $2,270 éosithmonths ended June 30, 2005 from $190 fosithmonths
ended June 30, 2004. The increase was the resoltrebsed sales through our direct to consuméilaison channel.

Operating Expenses

Satellite and Transmission. Satellite and transmission expenses decreased4p®) 113,481 for the six months ended June 30, 2005
$16,595 for the six months ended June 30, 2004 d€heease was primarily attributable to a $4,42@cdon in satellite insurance costs. S
decrease was offset primarily by increased costscisted with the use of security software to pnétiee theft of our service and additions to
our personnel.

Programming and Content. Programming and content expenses increased $2t5#D,635 for the six months ended June 30, 205
$19,095 for the six months ended June 30, 2004 ifdrease was primarily attributable to an incréaggersonnel-related costs and license
fees associated with sports related programmirigiivies, such as the NFL, NBA and college spaMe.also incurred additional on-air talent
costs due to the expansion of our programminguipend variable broadcast royalties as a resuhieoincrease in our subscriber base.

Customer Service and Billing. Customer service and billing expenses increasetfi$8p $17,230 for the six months ended June 315 20
from $8,389 for the six months ended June 30, 2004.increase was primarily due to increased cust@@rvice representative costs and
credit card fees necessary to support the growttupgubscriber base, increased telecommunicatiarges as a result of the expansion and
growth of our call centers to accommodate the emedn our subscriber base and increased opemttbmaintenance costs associated with
our new billing system implemented in the fourttadar of 2004. Customer service and billing expsrisereased 105% compared with an
increase in our end of period subscribers of 278%faune 30, 2005 as compared with June 30, ZD@&tomer service and billing expenses
per average subscriber per month for the six moartided June 30, 2005 was $1.96 compared with $8r&Be six months ended June 30,
2004.

Cost of Equipment. Cost of equipment increased $2,459 to $2,928 @itk months ended June 30, 2005 from $469 fositheonths
ended June 30, 2004. The increase in cost of equipwas attributable to increased sales throughlioeict to consumer distribution channel,
offset by reductions in the per unit costs of SIRIkadios and accessories.

Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expenses increased $8,02@67/6for the six months ended June 30, 2005 fré6@ 78 for
the six months ended June 30, 2004. Advertisingiaretd production costs increased primarily duadditional sponsorship, event
marketing and advertising costs as we build bravat@ness through national advertising and promatiaativities. Distribution costs
increased primarily as a result of additional cestsociated with the expansion of our retail distiion channel, increased retail residuals and
OEM revenue share as a result of the increasebiscsibers, and increases in personnel-related tmstgpport our growth. Such increases
were offset in part by costs associated with tlraroencement of our sales efforts with RadioShacluime 2004.

Subscriber Acquisition Costs. Subscriber acquisition costs increased $74,09435$86 for the six months ended June 30, 2005 from
$61,692 for the six months ended June 30, 200haease of 120%. Over the same period, gross shbsadditions increased 205% from
257,896 for the six months ended June 30, 20081¢3B5 for the six months ended June 30, 2005.iAdrease in subscriber acquisition ¢
was attributable to subsidies for higher shipmehSIRIUS radios and chip sets to accommodate thety of our subscriber base and to
restock inventory in the first quarter of 2005 agsult of selling out at retail after the 2004itiay season, in addition to increases in
commissions resulting from the increase in grogsatiber additions.
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Subscriber acquisition costs per gross siiEtaddition were $173 and $240 for the six merghded June 30, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. The decline was primarily attributats the reduction in hardware subsidy rates asoménue to reduce manufacturing and ¢
set costs.

General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses increased $87528,952 for the six months ended June 30, 2005
from $19,201 for the six months ended June 30, 2004 increase was primarily a result of additigmaisonnel-related costs and rent and
occupancy costs to support the growth of our bigsine

Engineering, Design and Development. Engineering, design and development expenses seulekl 1,802 to $23,448 for the six months
ended June 30, 2005 from $11,646 for the six moatided June 30, 2004. The increase was primatilp@ible to additional personnel-
related costs to support research and developrfferiise costs associated with tooling and manufidictuupgrades at DaimlerChrysler and
Ford to support factory installations of SIRIUSice] and product development costs for our nexegaion of products.

Equity Granted to Third Parties and Employees. Equity granted to third parties and employees espdor warrants increased $30,646 to
$46,024 for the six months ended June 30, 2005 $b5378 for the six months ended June 30, 200&. ifbrease is primarily attributable
expense accrued based on certain distribution graftperformance toward achieving eligible vehisléyscriber activation and delivery
milestones. In addition, we also recognized appnaxely $5,000 of higher expense associated witfopaance based vesting events for
warrants granted pursuant to various distributioth programming agreements.

Equity granted to third parties and empleyeepense for stock options, restricted stockriotstl stock units and other stock-based
awards increased $17,815 to $32,052 for the sixthsoended June 30, 2005 from $14,237 for the simthsoended June 30, 2004. The
increase was primarily attributable to expense @atzd with restricted stock units which acceletatearlier periods as performance targets
for fiscal periods are met, grants of stock-baseards, and modifications of existing stock-basedras. The remaining increase was
primarily related to expense accrued for 2005 psifaring and for restricted stock units we expecfrant for services performed in 2005.
Such increases were offset in part by lower expasseciated with 2004 performance options thaedeist March 2005.

Equity granted to third parties and emplayerpense for the six months ended June 30, 2G02@0% also included $1,860 and $293,
respectively, of expense associated with the 150¥D3shares of our common stock granted to the NFL.

Other Income (Expense)

Interest and Investment Income. Interest and investment income increased $5,668 @77 for the six months ended June 30, 2005 from
$3,615 for the six months ended June 30, 2004.iffdrease was primarily attributable to the increaseur average cash and cash equival
balance resulting from funds raised through offgsiof debt securities and an increase in the agdragrest rate.

Interest Expense. Interest expense decreased $14,442 to $14,526d@ix months ended June 30, 2005 from $28,96é&six months
ended June 30, 2004. The decrease was primarilyodiebt conversion costs as a result of the is1ah56,409,853 shares of our common
stock in exchange for $69,000 in aggregate prin@psunt of our 3/2% Convertible Notes due 2008, including accruedragt in 2004.
This decrease was offset by an increase in intesgmnse resulting from the issuance of ouf43%6 Convertible Notes due 2011 in October
2004 and a full six month impact of out/2 % Convertible Notes due 2009 issued in the firstrtgr of 2004.

Income Tax Expense

Income Tax Expense. We recorded income tax expense of $1,120 and $3¢08he six months ended June 30, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. This expense represents the recognifi a deferred tax liability related to the diface in accounting for our FCC license,
which is
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amortized over 15 years for tax purposes but natréired for book purposes under U.S. generally pteckaccounting principles.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash Flows for the Six Months Ended June 30, 2006rpared with the Six Months Ended June 30, 2004

As of June 30, 2005, we had $576,919 in eashcash equivalents compared with $634,023 asra# 30, 2004, a decrease of $57,104.
Cash and cash equivalents decreased $176,972 dheirsix months ended June 30, 2005. The decreasa vesult of net cash used in
operating activities and investing activities 0B$1805 and $1,263, respectively, offset by net gaskided by financing activities of $6,096.

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities. The following table contains a breakdown of ourloes adjusted for non-cash items and our
changes in operating assets and liabilities:

For the Six Months
Ended June 30,

2005 2004 Variance
Net loss adjusted for n-cash items
Net loss $ (371,15) $ (280,85 $ (90,307
Depreciatior 49,08: 47,27 1,81(
Non-cash interest expen 1,52 20,59¢ (19,072
Loss on disposal of asst 252 19 235
Equity granted to third parties and employ 79,93¢ 29,90¢ 50,02¢
Deferred income taxe 1,12( 3,081 (1,967
Total net loss adjusted for n-cash item: (239,24) (179,987 (59,269
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Marketable securitie 16 (92 10¢
Prepaid expenses and other current a: (15,76)) (29) (15,739
Other lon¢-term asset 47¢ (3,419 3,89z
Accrued interes (12¢) 2,87¢ (3,002
Accounts payable and accrued expel 26,00z 29,47: (3,47))
Deferred revenu 50,37« 17,96¢ 32,40¢
Other lon¢-term liabilities (3,547) (1,979 (1,56¢)
Total changes in operating assets and liabil 57,44 44,80¢ 12,63:
Net cash used in operating activit $ (181,80) $ (135,179 $ (46,63)

Net cash used in operating activities inseela$46,631 to $181,805 for the six months ended 30, 2005 from $135,174 for the six
months ended June 30, 2004. Such increase wasugdbile to the $59,264 increase in the net loassset] for non-cash items, from $179,982
for the six months ended June 30, 2004 to $23%@4the six months ended June 30, 2005, offsetrbinerease of $12,633 for changes in
operating assets and liabilities. The increasbemiet loss adjusted for non-cash items was priyrariesult of a $74,094 increase in
subscriber acquisition costs due to the increaseliscribers. Revenue increases of $72,889, or 3@w¥e than offset increases in other
operating expenses. Increases in operating expamsesequired to support the 278% increase irsabscriber base; the growth of our
operations; tooling and manufacturing upgradesaamerChrysler and Ford in preparation for factimstallations of SIRIUS radios; and to
acquire content, primarily in connection with opogs programming.

The net inflow of cash from changes in opegaassets and liabilities was primarily attridhl&ato an increase of $32,406 in deferred
revenue for subscribers electing annual and otfegrgid subscription programs. We currently recaiveverage of approximately nine
months of prepaid revenue per subscriber uponaiiv. This increase was offset in part by theease of
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$15,732 in prepaid expenses and other currentsagsgtarily for increases in accounts receivable @mp set inventory to support the gro
of our business.

We expect to continue to have net outflofvsash for 2005 to fund the growth of our operagiofhese cash outflows will be partially
offset by cash received from subscribers on prepalidcription plans.

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities. Net cash used in investing activities decreased08®xo $1,263 for the six months ended June 30,
2005 from $70,312 for the six months ended Jun2304. For the six months ended June 30, 2005 sfurgdplaced in escrow to support our
obligation to reimburse Ford for certain costsiit imcur in connection with the introduction of BIUS radios as a factory option were
released from escrow. Additional cash inflows of88% were a result of the maturity of available$ate securities. During the six months
ended June 30, 2004, we deposited $85,000 in egorfivad the rights fees for the 2006-2007, 200888and 2008009 NFL seasons. The
deposits were offset by cash inflows of $25,008 assult of the maturity of available-for-sale s@@es. Capital expenditures remained
consistent at $10,863 and $10,340 for the six mmeitided June 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities. Net cash provided by financing activities decreak&t,434 to $6,096 for the six months
ended June 30, 2005 from $318,530 for the six nwaiided June 30, 2004. We raised net proceed98f6E¥0 during the six months ended
June 30, 2004 through the offering of $300,000ggraegate principal amount of out/2 % Convertible Notes due 2009. We also received
proceeds from the exercise of options of $6,104%H 47 for the six months ended June 30, 20032804, respectively, and proceeds from
the exercise of warrants of $19,850 for the six theended June 30, 2004.

Financings and Capital Requirements

We have financed our operations througtstiie of debt and equity securities. Debt and edratysactions in 2004 and 2005, included
the following:

* in October 2004, we sold 25,000,000 shares of oomagon stock and issued $230,000 in aggregate pahci
amount of our /4% Convertible Notes due 2011 resulting in aggregeteproceeds of $320,8%

* in the first quarter of 2004, we issued $300,008ggregate principal amount of out/2 % Convertible Notes
due 2009 resulting in net proceeds of $293,600aWf issued 21,027,512 shares of our common stwck f
$19,850 in net proceeds in connection with the@serof warrants held by affiliates of The Black&tdGroup
L.P.; and

* in August 2005, we agreed to sell $500,000 in agapeeprincipal amount of our®@8 % Senior Notes due 2013
in a private transaction exempt from registratioder the Securities Act of 1933 pursuant to RulgAl-

Future Liquidity and Capital Resource Requirements

Based upon our current plans, we believedbhacash, cash equivalents and marketable seawiill be sufficient to cover our estimated
funding needs through cash flow breakeven, thettiwhich our revenues are sufficient to fund etpe operating expenses, capital
expenditures, working capital requirements, intea@sl principal payments and taxes. We expecttemgte positive free cash flow for the
full year 2007, and our first quarter of positived cash flow could be reached as early as théhfouiarter of 2006. Our financial projections
are based on assumptions, which we believe arerrabke but contain significant uncertainties.

Our business is in its early stages, andegelarly evaluate our plans and strategy. Theatiations often result in changes to our plans
and strategy, some of which may be material andifsigntly change our cash requirements or caude ashieve cash flow breakeven at a
later date. These changes in our plans or strateyyinclude: the acquisition of unique or compellprogramming; the introduction of new
features or services; significant new or enhangstildution arrangements; investments in infrastiees, such as satellites, equipment or radio
spectrum; and
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acquisitions of third parties that own programmidigtribution, infrastructure, assets, or any cambon of the foregoing. Although we have
no current plans to launch Sirius-4, our sparélgateve continually evaluate the benefits andtsas launching this satellite.

To fund incremental cash requirements, anasket opportunities arise, we may choose to idsktional funds through the sale of
additional debt securities, equity securities oombination of debt and equity securities. The irence of indebtedness would result in
increased fiscal obligations and could contairnrigste covenants. The sale of additional equitgoenvertible debt securities may result in
dilution to our stockholders. These additional sesrof funds may not be available or, if availabiay not be available on terms favorable to
us. In August 2005, we agreed to sell $500,00@gregate principal amount of ouf/8 % Senior Notes due 2013 in a private transaction
exempt from registration under the Securities Ad283 pursuant to Rule 144A.

2003 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan

In January 2003, our board of directors aeldphe Sirius Satellite Radio 2003 Long-Term Stindentive Plan (the “2003 Plan”), and on
March 4, 2003 our stockholders approved this plamMay 25, 2004, our stockholders approved an amentito the 2003 Plan to include
members of our board of directors as eligible pgréints. Employees, consultants and members di@and of directors are eligible to rece
awards under the 2003 Plan. The 2003 Plan pro¥atdale grant of stock options, restricted sto@stricted stock units and other stock-based
awards that the compensation committee of our bokditectors may deem appropriate.

Vesting and other terms of stock-based asvard set forth in the agreements with the indizislueceiving the awards. Stock-based
awards granted under the 2003 Plan are generdljgaito a vesting requirement that includes onallasf the following: (1) over time,
generally three to five years from the date of gré) on a specific date in future periods, wititc@leration to earlier periods if performance
criteria are satisfied; or (3) as certain perforoeatargets set at the time of grant are achieviedkSased awards generally expire ten years
from date of grant. Each restricted stock unittkagtithe holder to receive one share of our comstock upon vesting.

As of June 30, 2005, approximately 114,33@ 6tock options, shares of restricted stock astliceed stock units were outstanding.
Approximately 96,793,000 shares of our common steete available for grant under the 2003 Plan akiné 30, 2005. During the six
months ended June 30, 2005, employees exercis2fl, 466 stock options at exercise prices ranging 0.67 to $5.08 per share, resulting
in proceeds to us of $6,289. Of this amount, $6\184 collected as of June 30, 2005. The exercisesied options could result in an inflow
of cash in future periods.

Contractual Cash Commitments

We have entered into various contractshisae resulted in significant cash obligations itufe periods. These cash obligations could
vary in future periods if we change our businessir strategy, which could include significant iidds to our programming, infrastructure
or distribution. The following table summarizes expected contractual cash commitments as of JON2085:

Remaining
Thereafter
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 Total
Long-term debt obligation $ 13,08 $ 26,17: $ 5537 $ 85,69¢ $345577 $ 244,80( $ 770,69¢
Lease obligation 4,17¢ 8,361 7,69: 7,507 7,46( 33,18: 68,38:
Satellite and transmissic 1,57¢ 3,15¢ 3,15¢ 3,15¢ 3,15¢ 15,027 29,22t
Programming and conte 32,82 114,89¢ 89,10¢ 97,897 125,22! 148,80( 608,74
Customer service and billir 1,75¢ 5,56( 3,032 — — — 10,341
Marketing and distributiol 60,18¢ 30,08¢ 15,60¢ 10,32( 13,60( 22,85( 152,65:
Chip set development and product 16,50( 6,631 — — — — 23,13

Total contractual cash commitmer  $ 130,10¢ $194,86' $173,96( $204,57° $495,01! $ 464,65¢( $1,663,18
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Long-Term Debt Obligations

Long-term debt obligations include principald interest payments. As of June 30, 2005, web6868,247 in aggregate principal amount
of outstanding debt.

Lease Obligation:
We have entered into operating leases klateur national broadcast studio, office spageestrial repeaters and equipment.
Satellite and Transmissio

We have entered into agreements with thandigs to operate and maintain our off-site sagelélemetry, tracking and control facilities
and certain components of our terrestrial repesterork.

Programming and Conten

We have entered into agreements with licensbprogramming and other content providers &ndertain instances, are obligated to pay
license fees and guarantee minimum advertisingweyshare. In addition, we have agreements witlbwsirights organizations pursuant to
which we pay royalties for public performances afsic.

Customer Service and Billing
We have entered into agreements with thandigs to provide customer service, billing andssuitber management services.
Marketing and Distribution

We have entered into various marketing, spoship and distribution agreements to promoteboaind and are obligated to make
payments to sponsors, retailers, automakers ama mehufacturers under these agreements. In addd@rtain programming and content
agreements require us to purchase advertisingapepies owned or controlled by the licensors. \&eehalso agreed to reimburse autome
for certain engineering and development costs &ssacwith the incorporation of SIRIUS radios inehicles they manufacture.

Chip Set Development and Production

We have entered into agreements with thamtiigs to develop, produce and supply chip setjranertain instances to license intellectual
property related to such chip sets. Certain ofdteggeements require that we also purchase a nmmiguantity of chip sets.

Joint Development Agreement

Under the terms of a joint development agreemetit ¥M Radio, the other holder of a FCC satellitdiodicense, each party is obligat
to fund one half of the development cost for aieditandard for satellite radios. The costs rdl&aghe joint development agreement are
being expensed as incurred to engineering, desidgrdavelopment expense. We are currently unaldetermine the expenditures necessary
to complete this process, but they may be significa

Other Commitments

In addition to the contractual cash committaalescribed above, we have also entered int@agnets with automakers, radio
manufacturers and others that include per-radiopgndubscriber payments and revenue share arrangeréete future costs are depenc
upon many factors and are difficult to anticipdteyever, these costs may be substantial. We may o
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additional programming, distribution, marketing astler agreements that contain similar provisions.

We are required under the terms of certain agretnermrovide letters of credit and deposit moimesscrow, which place restrictions
our cash and cash equivalents. As of June 30, 208®ecember 31, 2004, $92,615 and $97,321, résplgcivere classified as restricted
investments as a result of our reimbursement ofidigg under these letters of credit and escrowngements.

As of June 30, 2005, we have not enteramlanyy off-balance sheet arrangements or transaction
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements aep@red in accordance with U.S. generally accepteduating principles, which require
management to make estimates and assumptiondfiztttae reported amounts of assets and liaksliethe date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenseg the periods. We have disclosed all signifi@atounting policies in Note 3 to the
unaudited consolidated financial statements indudehis report. We have identified the followipglicies, which were discussed with the
audit committee of our board of directors, as caitto our business and understanding our restutiperations.

Subscriber Revenue Recognition. Revenue from subscribers consists of subscripties,fincluding revenues associated with prepaid
subscriptions included in the sale or lease pri@erew vehicle; revenue derived from our agreemsatht Hertz; and non-refundable
activation fees.

We recognize subscription fees as our sergiprovided to a subscriber. We record deferegdnue for prepaid subscription fees and
amortize these prepayments to revenue ratablytbedgierm of the respective subscription plan. Attime of sale, vehicle owners purchasing
or leasing a vehicle with a subscription typicaltgeive between a six-month and one-year prepdiscsiption. We receive payment from
automakers for these subscriptions in advance o$enwice being activated. We also reimburse theraakers for certain costs associated
with the SIRIUS radio installed in the applicabkhicle at the time the vehicle is manufactured. 3$sociated payments to the automakers
are included in subscriber acquisition costs. Altffowe receive payments from the automakers, thayotiresell our service; rather,
automakers facilitate the sale of our service toomstomers similar to an agent. We believe thibésappropriate characterization of our
relationship since we are responsible for providiagrices to our customers including being obligatethe customer if there were
interruption of service.

Activation fees are recognized ratably aberestimated term of a subscriber relationshipeadly estimated to be 3.5 years. The
estimated term of a subscriber relationship is hasemarket research and management's judgmenif aegessary, will be refined in the
future as historical data becomes available.

As required by Emerging Issues Task ForE#TF") No. 01-09, “Accounting for Consideration @iw by a Vendor to a Customer
(Including a Reseller of the Vendor's Productsi,’eatimate of mail-in rebates that are paid byirectly to subscribers is recorded as a
reduction to subscriber revenue in the period thissriber activates our service. We estimate tfeetsf of mail-in rebates based on actual
take-rates for rebate incentives offered in priemiqds. In subsequent periods, estimates are adjugdten necessary.

Sock-Based Compensation. In accordance with Accounting Principles Board @ginNo. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees,” we use the intrinsic value method t@asoee the compensation costs of stbaked awards granted to employees and memt
our board of directors. Accordingly, we record camgation expense for stock-based awards grantdpoyees and members of our board
of directors over the vesting period equal to tkeess of the market price of the underlying commstoick at the date of grant over the
exercise price of the stock-based award. The Bitrimalue of restricted stock units as of the aditgrant is amortized to expense over the
vesting period. These charges are recorded as par@nt of equity granted to third parties and erygds in our accompanying unaudited
consolidated statements of operations.
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We account for modifications to stock-baaeards in accordance with Financial Accounting &tads Board (“FASB”) Interpretation
No. 44,“Accounting for Certain Transactions Involving Ska€ompensation” (“FIN No. 44”). FIN No. 44 providdsat when the
modification of a stock-based award occurs, a n@asuarement date results because the modificatigratitav an employee to vest in an
award that would have otherwise been forfeited ymmsto the original terms. A new measurement eéqital compensation is measured ¢
the date of the modification. While measurementhefpotential compensation is made as of that ttaterecognition of the compensation
expense depends on whether the employee ultimagiins the stock-based award that otherwise wioadg been forfeited under the award's
original vesting terms.

We granted stock-based awards which vegtlJl2008 with acceleration to earlier time periadgperformance targets for fiscal periods
are met. The performance targets are establishaghfiy and may be modified by our board of direstdxs these targets are set new
measurement dates result. We recognize expendamgstom a new measurement date only if such eygds voluntarily resign or are
terminated for cause and had exercised or exesuiste stock-based awards during the period of theleated vest date through July 1, 2008,
the original vest date. Under these conditions,leyges are deemed to benefit from the accelerastidate. Stock-based awards with new
measurement dates could result in the recogniti@bock compensation expense of up to $23,372 girduly 1, 2008 if during such period
all of the affected employees were to voluntardgign or were terminated for cause and had exeroisexercise such awards. Stock
compensation expense associated with stock opfiborike three and six months ended June 30, 2Gfddas a charge of $479 for an
employee that was deemed to benefit from the mezatibn of a stock-based award resulting in a newsuement date.

In accordance with FIN No. 44, we record pemsation charges or benefits related to repritmk ©ptions based on the market value of
our common stock until the repriced stock optioresexercised, forfeited or expire.

We account for stock-based awards grantedmeemployees at fair value in accordance witheBtant of Financial Accounting
Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123, “Accounting for Stockd®d Compensation.” In accordance with EITF No186*Accounting for Equity
Instruments That are Issued to Other Than Emplofarescquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Gde or Services,” we record expense
based upon performance using the fair value oftgdustruments issued to non-employees, other tiememployee members of our board of
directors, at each reporting date. The final measent date of equity instruments with performanteria is the date that each performance
commitment for such equity instrument is satisfiedir value is determined using the Black-Schof@soa valuation model and varies based
on assumptions used for the expected life, expesttadk price volatility and risk-free interest mt&ince we do not have sufficient historical
information regarding the life expectancy of stdidsed awards granted to nemployees, we currently use an expected life basdte tern
of the stock-based award as specified in each agnee Expected stock price volatility is calculateer a period equal to the expected life
and the risk-free interest rate represents thg ttaidsury yield curve rate at the reporting dateel on the closing market bid yields on
actively traded U.S. treasury securities in therdlie-counter market for the expected term. Ouuragdions may change in future periods as
the life expectancy of the stock-based awards rhaxten based on exercise activity. In addition,eetpd stock price volatility is subject to
change based on fluctuations in our stock priceseélttosts are classified in our accompanying utedidonsolidated statements of operal
as a component of equity granted to third partresemployees.

Subscriber Acquisition Costs. Subscriber acquisition costs include hardware sigsspaid to radio manufacturers and automakers,
including subsidies paid to automakers who haveejto include a SIRIUS radio and a prepaid subiseni to our service in the sale or lease
price of a new vehicle; subsidies paid to chipnsahufacturers; and commissions paid to retailedsaanomakers as incentives to purchase,
install and activate SIRIUS radios. The majoritysabscriber acquisition costs are incurred in adeaf acquiring a subscriber. Subscriber
acquisition costs do not include advertising, lbyalayments to distributors and dealers of SIRI&@as and
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revenue share payments to automakers and manecofrSIRIUS radios. Subscriber acquisition cafte do not include amounts
capitalized in connection with our agreement wittrtd, as we retain ownership of the SIRIUS rad&edlby Hertz.

Subsidies paid to radio manufacturers atdraakers are expensed upon shipment or installaiommissions paid to retailers and
automakers are expensed either upon activatioalero$ the SIRIUS radio. Chip sets that are shigpa@dio manufacturers and held on
consignment are recorded as inventory and expaasedbscriber acquisition costs when placed inddymtion by radio manufacturers. Cc
for chip sets not held on consignment are expeasenibscriber acquisition costs when the chipasetshipped to radio manufacturers.

Long-Lived Assets. We carry our long-lived assets at cost less accatedidepreciation. In accordance with SFAS No. 14dgounting
for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Asseétse review our long-lived assets for impairmeritemever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amouincdisset is not recoverable. At the time an impaitrim value of a long-lived asset is
identified, the impairment will be measured asaheunt by which the carrying amount of a long-liesget exceeds its fair value. To
determine fair value, we would employ an expectesgnt value technique, which utilizes multiplehcisw scenarios that reflect the range
of possible outcomes and an appropriate discotat ra

Useful Life of Satellite System. Our satellite system includes the cost of satetlitestruction, launch vehicles, launch insuranapitalizec
interest, our spare satellite and our terrestepeater network. In accordance with SFAS No. 14&4menitor our satellites for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances irdibat the carrying amount of the asset is notwe@ble. The expected useful lives of our
in-orbit satellites are 15 years from the date tiveye placed into orbit. We are depreciating otgetin-orbit satellites over their respective
remaining useful lives beginning February 14, 2602n the case of our spare satellite, from thie davas delivered to ground storage in
April 2002. If placed into orbit, our spare satellis expected to operate effectively for 15 yeSmace Systems/Loral, the manufacturer of our
satellites, has identified circuit failures in sodarrays on satellites since 1997, including otelstes. We continue to monitor these failures,
which we believe have not affected the expectetlubees of our satellites. If events or circumstas indicate that the useful lives of our
satellites have changed, we will modify the deabla life accordingly.

FCC License. We carry our FCC license at cost. Our FCC licerssedn indefinite life and is evaluated for impainthen an annual basis
or more frequently if there are indicators of impa&nt. In accordance with SFAS No. 142, “GoodwiltlaDther Intangible Assets,” we
completed an impairment analysis of our FCC licaasef December 31, 2004, and determined that thaseno impairment. We use
projections regarding estimated future cash flomg @her factors in assessing the fair value of/@i€ license. If these estimates or
projections change in the future, we may be reduioeecord an impairment charge related to our EGse.

Income Taxes. We account for income taxes in accordance with SRAS109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” Operatlogses in prior
periods have generated significant state and fetieraet operating losses, or NOL carryforward® &lve required to record a valuation
allowance against the deferred tax asset associdtiedhese NOL carryforwards if it is “more liketiran not” that we will not be able to
utilize it to offset future taxes. Due to our histef unprofitable operations and our expectedrieitosses, we have recorded a valuation
allowance equal to 100% of these deferred tax siskés possible, however, that we could be pabfi¢ in the future at levels which would
cause management to conclude that it is more litkeelp not that we will realize all or a portiontbése NOL carryforwards. Upon reaching
such a conclusion, we would record the estimatédeadizable value of the deferred tax asset dttitme and would then provide for income
taxes at a rate equal to our combined federal tatd sffective rates. Subsequent revisions to stimated net realizable value of the deferred
tax asset could cause our provision for incomegaaeary significantly from period to period, atigh our cash tax payments would remain
unaffected until the benefit of these NOL carryfards is utilized.
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Item 4. Controls and Procedures

As of June 30, 2005, an evaluation was peréal under the supervision and with the particggatif our management, including Mel
Karmazin, our Chief Executive Officer, and David~dear, our Executive Vice President and Chief Réel Officer, of the effectiveness of
the design and operation of our disclosure containts procedures. Based on that evaluation, our geanent, including our Chief Executive
Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, concludiht our disclosure controls and procedures wdeetdfe as of June 30, 2005. There have
been no significant changes in our internal cordx@r financial reporting or in other factors teatld significantly affect our internal control
over financial reporting subsequent to June 305200
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Part Il
Other Information

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Securityolders

At our annual meeting of stockholders held/dednesday, May 25, 2005, the persons whose naraest forth below were elected as
directors. The relevant voting information for egarson is set forth opposite such person's name:

Votes Cast
For Against
Leon D. Black 1,142,442,42 12,840,12
Joseph P. Claytc 1,128,854,58 12,840,12
Lawrence F. Gilber 1,140,835,42 14,447,11
James P. Holde 1,140,882,10 14,400,43
Mel Karmazin 1,130,612,91 24,669,622
Warren N. Lieberfarl 1,146,110,25 9,172,27:
Michael J. McGuines 1,146,202,57 9,079,96.
James F. Moone 1,143,323,57 11,958,96

Item 6. Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K
(a) Exhibits.
See Exhibit Index attached hereto.
(b) Reports on Form 8-K.

On April 28, 2005, we filed a Current RepoantForm 8-K to announce our financial and opegatasults for the three months ended
March 31, 2005.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Seesrdnd Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant hasahused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

SIRIUS SATELLITE RADIO | NC.

By: / s/ D AVID J. FREAR

David J. Fre

Executive Vice President ¢
Chief Financial Offici
(Principal Financial Office

August 3, 2005
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
Description

3.1—Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatiated March 4, 2003 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's Annual Report on FAG-K for the year ended December 31, 20(

3.2—Amended and Restated By-Laws (incorporated by eefsr to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company's Quarterly Repo
on Form 1+-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2C

4.1—Form of certificate for shares of Common Stock ¢imporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Congfsan
Registration Statement on Forr-1 (File No. 3-74782) (the* S-1 Registration Stateme™)).

4.2—Indenture, dated as of November 26, 1997, betweeCompany and IBJ Schroder Bank & Trust Company,
as trustee, relating to the Company's 15% Senicur$d Discount Notes due 2007 (incorporated by eefs
to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's Registration Staehon Form S-3 (File No. 333-34769) (the “1997tni
Registration Stateme”)).

4.3—Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 7, 2088yeen the Company and The Bank of New York (as
successor to IBJ Schroder Bank & Trust Companyiyussee, relating to the Company's 15% Senior i®ecu
Discount Notes due 2007 (incorporated by referendexhibit 4.4 to the Company's Annual Report on
Form 1(-K for the year ended December 31, 20l

4.4—Form of 15% Senior Secured Discount Note due 20@bd(porated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the7.99
Units Registration Statemen

4.5—Indenture, dated as of May 15, 1999, between thegaoy and United States Trust Company of New York,
as trustee, relating to the Company's/ 2% Senior Secured Notes due 2009 (incorporatedfeyerece to
Exhibit 4.4.2 to the Company's Registration Statemoa Form -4 (File No. 33-82303)).

4.6—Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 7, 20€8yeen the Company and The Bank of New York (as
successor to United States Trust Company of Newk)Yas trustee, relating to the Company's/12%
Senior Secured Notes due 2009 (incorporated byerde to Exhibit 4.10 to the Company's Annual Repno
Form 1(-K for the year ended December 31, 20l

4.7—Form of 14/ 2% Senior Secured Note due 2009 (incorporated l®reate to Exhibit 4.4.3 to the Company's
Registration Statement on Forr-4 (File No. 33-82303)).

4.&—Warrant Agreement, dated as of May 15, 1999, betwee Company and United States Trust Company of
New York, as warrant agent (incorporated by refeeeio Exhibit 4.4.4 to the Company's Registra
Statement on Form-4 (File No. 33-82303)).

4.c—Indenture, dated as of September 29, 1999, bettiee@Gompany and United States Trust Company ofg,
N.A., as trustee, relating to the Company?/ 4 % Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2009 (inc@teat by
reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company's Curregfadt on Form -K filed on October 13, 1999

4.1(—First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of Septe@®el999, between the Company and United Statest Tr
Company of Texas, N.A., as trustee, relating toGbepany's 8/ 4 % Convertible Subordinated Notes due
2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.0thio Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
October 1, 1999
4.13—Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of Mar2B@B, among the Company, The Bank of New York (as

successor to United States Trust Company of Ték#s), as resigning trustee, and HSBC Bank USA, as
successor trustee, relating to the Company’< 8o Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2009 (inc@tear
by reference to Exhibit 4.16 to the Company's AhiReport on Form 10-K for the year ended Decemlier 3
2002).
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Exhibit
Description

4.12—Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of Marck0D3, between the Company and HSBC Bank USA, as
trustee, relating to the Company'#/8 % Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2009 (incatear by
reference to Exhibit 4.17 to the Company's Annugpdtt on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2002).

4.17—Form of 8% 4% Convertible Subordinated Note due 2009 (incorgaray reference to Article VIl of
Exhibit 4.01 to the Company's Current Report om#€-K filed on October 1, 1999

4.14—Indenture, dated as of May 23, 2003, between thegaoy and The Bank of New York, as trustee
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to tlmmpany's Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 30,
2003).

4.15—Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 23, 2088yden the Company and The Bank of New York, as
trustee, relating to the Company'¥/2 % Convertible Notes due 2008 (incorporated by ssfee to
Exhibit 99.3 to the Company's Current Report omi-€é-K dated May 30, 2003

4.1¢—Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of Feb2(ar3004, between the Company and The Bank of New
York, as trustee, relating to the Company!82% Convertible Notes due 2009 (incorporated by sxfee to
Exhibit 4.20 to the Company's Annual Report on Fa&fi-K for the year ended December 31, 20(

4.17—Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of OctoBe2004, between the Company and The Bank of New
York, as trustee, relating to the Company!88% Convertible Notes due 2011 (incorporated by sxfee to
Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's Current Report on F8-K dated October 13, 2004

4.1¢—Common Stock Purchase Warrant granted by the CoyrpadaimlerChrysler AG dated June 3, 2004
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.21 to tlemPany's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the guar
ended June 30, 200:

4.1<—Common Stock Purchase Warrant granted by the Coyripaford Motor Company dated October 7, 2002
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.16 to tlemPany's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the gar
ended September 30, 200

4.2(—Form of Media-Based Incentive Warrant dated Felgr@aR004 issued by the Company to NFL Enterprises
LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.25he Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the yea
ended December 31, 200

4.23—Bounty-Based Incentive Warrant dated February 8428sued by the Company to NFL Enterprises LLC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.26 to tlepany's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the yeateeh
December 31, 2003

4.2z—Amended and Restated Warrant Agreement, dated@sagmber 27, 2000, between the Company and
United States Trust Company of New York, as wareayent and escrow agent (incorporated by reference
Exhibit 4.27 to the Company's Registration Staterer~orm -3 (File No. 33-65602)).

4.2:—Second Amended and Restated Pledge Agreement, aatddviarch 7, 2001, among the Company, as
pledgor, The Bank of New York, as trustee and tedd agent, United States Trust Company of NewkYor
as trustee, and Lehman Commercial Paper Inc.,ragatrative agent (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.25 to the Company's Quarterly Report omi1(-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2C

4.24—Amended and Restated Intercreditor Agreement, dedexf March 7, 2001, by and between The Bank a¥
York, as trustee and collateral agent, United Statest Company of New York, as trustee, and Lehman
Commercial Paper Inc., as administrative ageno(marated by reference to Exhibit 4.27 to the Camyfsa
Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2C

10.1.7—Lease Agreement, dated as of March 31, 1998, bet®eek-McGraw, Inc. and the Company (incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.1.2 to the Company'sré@uly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 1998
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10.1.—Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 22, 2000veen Rock-McGraw, Inc. and the Company
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1.2 to@mmpany's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for thartgr
ended March 31, 200C

*10.2—Employment Agreement dated November 18, 2004 betweeCompany and Mel Karmazin (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's AhiRReport on Form 10-K for the year ended Decemler 3
2004).

*10.3—Employment Agreement, dated as of June 3, 2008/dest the Company and David J. Frear (incorporaged L
reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company's Quartedport on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30
2003).

*10.4—Employment Agreement, dated as of May 5, 2004, éetvthe Company and Scott A. Greenstein
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to tlepany's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the tpuar
ended June 30, 200:

*10.5—Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datefiMdarch 11, 2005, between the Company and
James E. Meyer (incorporated by reference to Exhihb to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 20!

*10.6—Employment Agreement, dated as of November 8, 2080yeen the Company and Patrick L. Donnelly
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to tlmPany's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the tpuar
ended September 30, 200

*10.7—CD Radio Inc. 401(k) Savings Plan (incorporateddfgrence to Exhibit 4.4 to the Company's Registnat
Statement on Form-8 (File No. 33-65473)).

*10.8—Amended and Restated Sirius Satellite Radio 200®)term Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Company's QuigriReport on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Juhe 3
2004).

*10.9—Form of Option Agreement, dated as of Decembed 297, between the Company and each Optionee
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16.2 ® @ompany's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
qguarter ended June 30, 19¢

110.1(—Joint Development Agreement, dated as of Februg 00, between the Company and XM Satellite Radi
Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28hie Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q fer th
qguarter ended March 31, 200
31.1—Certificate of Mel Karmazin, Chief Executive Officgursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-OxleyoAc
2002 (filed herewith)
31.—Certificate of David J. Frear, Executive Vice Pdesit and Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to Sec802 o
the Sarban«-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith
**32.1—Certificate of Mel Karmazin, Chief Executive Officgpursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarb~-Oxley Act of 2002
**32.2—Certificate of David J. Frear, Executive Vice Pdesit and Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to 18.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 90&darban«-Oxley Act of 2002

* This document has been identified as a managerairact or compensatory plan or arrangen

T Portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuampplications for Confidential treatment filegt the Company
with the Securities and Exchange Commiss

** Pursuant to Securities and Exchange CommissioraBelo. 33-8212, this certification will be treasex

“accompanying” this Quarterly Report on Form 1046 aot “filed” as part of such Report for purposésSection
18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the ‘liargye Act”), or otherwise subject to the liabilitfySection 18
of the Exchange Act, and this certification willtriiee deemed to be incorporated by reference ingdilimgs under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1933, as amendettiedexchange Act, except to the extent that thestant
specifically incorporates it by referen
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EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

I, Mel Karmazin, the Chief Executive Officer of bis Satellite Radio Inc., certify that:

1.1 have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 16f@irius Satellite Radio Inc. for the period endede 30,

2005;

2.Based on my knowledge, this report does not cortaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtate a
material fact necessary to make the statements,nmaliight of the circumstances under which suelieshents wer
made, not misleading with respect to the perioceoed by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements odimer financial information included in this repdairly
present in all material respects the financial dood results of operations and cash flows ofriégistrant as of, ar
for, the periods presented in this rep

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and | a@gponsible for establishing and maintaining disgte controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 18a)Hnd 15d-15(e)) and internal controls over faahn
reporting (as defined in Exchange Rules-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and proceduiaes to
designed under our supervision, to ensure thatrrabiteformation relating to the registrant, inciang its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to usthgre within those entities, particularly during gheriod in
which this report is being prepare

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finah@gaorting
to be designed under our supervision, to providsarable assurance regarding the reliability @frfanal
reporting and the preparation of financial statetsiéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesiabeptec
accounting principles

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrantdaksire controls and procedures and presentedsimeort our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discéosantrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeoverec
by this report based on such evaluation;

(d) Disclosed in this report any changes in the regigis internal controls over financial reportingttbccurred
during the registrant's most recent fiscal qudtat has materially affected, or is reasonablylyike materially
affect, the registrant's internal control over finil reporting; an

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and | badisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorteyhal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant's aoiditand the audit committee of the registrant'sdoéadirectors (or
persons performing the equivalent functiot

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contragiofinancial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adverssfgct the registrant's ability to record, processnmarize
and report financial information; ai

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involvemnagement or other employees who have a signifioéain
the registrant's internal control over financigloging.

By: /s/M EL K ARMAZIN
Mel Karmazin
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer

August 3, 2005

EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

I, David J. Frear, the Executive Vice President @hief Financial Officer of Sirius Satellite Raditc., certify that:

1.1 have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10f@irius Satellite Radio Inc. for the period endeahe 30,
2005;
2.Based on my knowledge, this report does not cortaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtate a



material fact necessary to make the statements,nmaliight of the circumstances under which suelteshents wer
made, not misleading with respect to the perioceoed by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements odimer financial information included in this repdairly
present in all material respects the financial dood results of operations and cash flows ofriégistrant as of, ar
for, the periods presented in this rep

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and | a@gponsible for establishing and maintaining disgte controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 18a}Hnd 15d-15(e)) and internal controls over foiain
reporting (as defined in Exchange Rules-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and proceduiaes to
designed under our supervision, to ensure thatrrabileformation relating to the registrant, incing its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to usthgre within those entities, particularly during gheriod in
which this report is being prepare

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finah@gaorting
to be designed under our supervision, to providsarable assurance regarding the reliability @frfanal
reporting and the preparation of financial statet:méor external purposes in accordance with gelyeaateptec
accounting principles

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrantdaksire controls and procedures and presentedsimeiport our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discéosantrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeoverec
by this report based on such evaluation;

(d) Disclosed in this report any changes in the regyig® internal controls over financial reportingttoccurred
during the registrant's most recent fiscal quahat has materially affected, or is reasonablylyike materially
affect, the registrant's internal control over finil reporting; an

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and | badisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorteyhal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant's aoditand the audit committee of the registrant'sdoéadirectors (or
persons performing the equivalent functiot

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contragiofinancial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adverssfgct the registrant's ability to record, processnmarize
and report financial information; ai

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involvesmnagement or other employees who have a signifioéain
the registrant's internal control over financigloging.

By: /s/D AVID J. FREAR
David J. Frear
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer

August 3, 2005

EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY
ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report ai® Satellite Radio Inc. (the “Company”) on Folid-Q for the period ended June 30, 2005
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commiseinthe date hereof (the “Report”), I, Mel KarnmazLhief Executive Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section01 3% adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sask@nley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the resuments of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securlrshange Act
of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Regdatly presents, in all material respects, thefiicial condition
and results of operations of the Company.



By: /s/M EL K ARMAZIN
Mel Karmazin
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer

August 3, 2005

Asigned original of thiswritten statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise
adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been

provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and fur nished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon
request.

EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY
ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report @i Satellite Radio Inc. (the “Company”) on Folid-Q for the period ended June 30, 2005
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commiseinthe date hereof (the “Report”), |, David Jedf Executive Vice President and Chief

Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursugmtl8 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuadé¢etion 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the resuments of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securlrshange Act
of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Regdatly presents, in all material respects, thefiicial condition
and results of operations of the Company.

By: /s/D AVID J. FREAR
David J. Frear
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer

August 3, 2005

Asigned original of thiswritten statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise
adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of thiswritten statement required by Section 906, has been

provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and fur nished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon
request.

End of Filing
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